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PREFACE TO THE 2017 EDITION


Those who have already read volume two of these diaries, Scenes and Apparitions 1988–2003, will be aware of the sensation that Splendours and Miseries 1967–1987 caused when they were first published in 1997, ten years on from where they finish. The new edition is published half a century on from the period it records, beginning in the legendary era we know as the ‘Swinging Sixties’. I am struck that a mint copy of volume one is now a collector’s item and how virtually anyone who writes of this era quotes from them. Reading them leaves me feeling like a mid-Victorian looking back to his youth in the Regency.


The present volume, which includes previously unpublished diary entries, has been recast to accord with volume two. I have also been able to draw on visual material from the scrapbooks my wife and I compiled from the time of our marriage in 1971. The original manuscripts of the Diaries together with all my other papers are already partly and will be completely in the Bodleian Library, Oxford, but only accessible on my demise.


I cannot reiterate enough the fact that these diaries record what I saw and recorded at the time.


Once again I must acknowledge my debt to my editor, Johanna Stephenson, and to colleagues at Weidenfeld & Nicolson who have shared my enthusiasm for this new edition.


ROY STRONG


The Laskett, Herefordshire, December 2016













INTRODUCTION


This book draws on two sources, the first my personal diary, the second a series of letters to a Dutch friend. Together they span the two decades during which I directed two of the country’s most prestigious art institutions, the National Portrait Gallery and the Victoria and Albert Museum. As an historian I feel bound to declare and describe my sources, so that the reader may understand the nature of the material which is printed here. Let me begin with the diary.


The diary begins on 9 November 1967, five months after my entry into office, on 1 June, at the Portrait Gallery. At a dinner given by the collector Sir Brinsley Ford at his treasure house in Wyndham Place I sat next to Esmé, Lady Carlisle, a widow who had embarked on a second professional career working for the Museums and Galleries Commission. It was she who suggested to me, an extremely young museum director, that I should keep a diary because I would meet so many interesting people. She was right. I did. Home I went and began on a few loose sheets of typing paper and continued until Christmas, writing about a dozen lines a day. These juvenile jottings can be virtually discounted, but the following year the diary went in a totally different direction, and that was due to the friendship that had sprung up with Cecil Beaton.




Beaton’s diaries were in the process of publication at that time and I was hypnotised by his ability to conjure up characters or a scene. His diaries were not daily but occasional, made up of set pieces describing particular events and people or retrospective miniature essays. They were concerned, too, with a social panorama and certainly not with the day-to-day technicalities of his professional life. It was that type of diary that I decided to keep.


In doing so I am all too aware that the impulse ebbed and flowed. In going through the entries I am more than conscious of everything I could have written about but failed to. This was often due to exhaustion, but also to the fact that so much of my daily life was consumed in writing letters and memoranda and, at the weekends, books and articles. The diary could so easily slip into oblivion. After marriage I stopped for a year or so and it was only my wife who urged me to pick up my pen again. During the late Sixties and early Seventies the entries are scattered through lined notebooks. Then from 1975 to 1981 they are on the reverse of old BBC scripts and photocopies of my wife’s costume designs. At the beginning of the Eighties I suddenly looked back at the entries and was taken aback by how interesting some of them were. I then went over to blank notebooks.


Most of the contents of these diaries are printed here, so the reader need not be left wondering what else lies locked up in my archive. Not that much, although for personal reasons certain things are omitted and, on the whole, I avoided printing anything which would upset too much. But in the case of those in public life like myself, I have felt that they could take it on the chin, as I have done over the decades. As the years passed my literary abilities developed and from the mid-Seventies on the entries are virtually verbatim, apart from editorial tidying up to make sense. Some of the earlier entries inevitably called for a little more tidying.


Interspersed with diary entries there are extracts from a series of letters I wrote to Jan van Dorsten, who was a lecturer and eventually a professor at the University of Leiden. He was two years my senior and we first met at Cumberland Lodge in Windsor Great Park in the summer of 1958. Our shared interests were academic, concerned with England and the Low Countries in the late sixteenth century, and together we produced in 1964 a book called Leicester’s Triumph. The letters are continuous until Jan’s sudden death in 1985, which came as a great shock. He too was a good letter-writer, but the heart of our exchange was what is omitted here: academic information centring around the books that we were writing. But over the years these missives developed almost into an alternative form of diary as I recounted to him everything that had happened since the last letter. Indeed one letter actually acknowledges that fact and asks for photocopies of my earlier letters for my own files. In addition, as Jan was a foreigner, I was always putting into context the things about which I wrote, letting down the backcloth of the period as it unfolded through the Seventies and Eighties. What these letters capture is the essence of my existence, which has always been domestic. They record a married life and the creation of a house and a garden that were to be one’s rock. They still are.


I could not have published this material ten, or even five, years ago. It called for space, distance from the events and people described. Much at the time was deeply painful. I now read it as though I was reading about someone else. Why the decision to publish? Well, I am not immortal and the reader will discover that I have a special line in describing memorial services. Who knows what will be one’s allotted span? Somehow my antennae tell me that the time is right. Within my make-up the compilation of some kind of memoir of one’s life and what one set out to achieve is an act of reconciliation, for it has been littered with failures as well as triumphs. The publication also had to await the right editor. I was not far into writing The Story of Britain when I knew that I had found that person in Julia MacRae, so much so that in a sense the dedication of this book can be read in two ways. To make such an act of revelation about oneself calls for utter confidence in the person receiving such material. That I have had in abundance. What follows owes an incalculable debt to her skills, her friendship, and her belief in what I was doing.











1967


‘GOT IT. I feel humbled in exultation as it is a fantastic achievement at thirty-one, beaten only by Sir Kenneth Clark at the National Gallery. I apparently swept the Board. But the tasks ahead are terrific and daunting and exhilarating . . .’


It was in this way that I announced my appointment as Director of the National Portrait Gallery (which I had joined as an Assistant Keeper in 1959) to my Dutch academic friend, Jan van Dorsten. For me it ended months of anguish, which had begun the previous October when David Piper, the then Director, accepted the directorship of the Fitzwilliam Museum, Cambridge, and I wrote: ‘I have a very good chance of getting it but my extreme youth may be my undoing . . . 1967 will either be a year of triumph or disaster . . .’ Then followed the months of waiting but I had allies. David Piper was one, so was Francis Wormald, one of the ‘king-makers’ of academe at that period, who had presided over my earlier advancement. To these I was able to add as referees the future Dame Frances Yates, who had supervised my doctorate, and Sir Oliver Millar, Surveyor of the Queen’s Pictures. Not a bad line-up, but I had a narrow miss when the advertisement for the post specified that candidates had to be over thirty-five; David Piper and the



Chairman, Lord Kenyon, struck that out and replaced it with thirty.


D-Day was 16 March. There was a shortlist of six and a formidable interviewing board with a battery of high-powered Civil Servants, Trustees, and, from without, the great scholar E.H. Gombrich, Director of the Warburg Institute (where I had learned so much), and E.K. Waterhouse, the waspish doyen of British art historians. It was a gruelling interview but I went in fully prepared. I still have what I wrote as my dossier of what had to be done to the Gallery, a ten-year strategy covering everything from establishing an education department to rearrangement and redecoration, from cleaning pictures to staging exhibitions. The Chairman told me afterwards that my answer to one question had nearly cost me the job, for I suggested that the Portrait Gallery should have a relationship with the National Trust and decentralise some of the collection. The idea of one square inch of canvas leaving St Martin’s Place was viewed as anathema. Later Lloyd Kenyon was to eat his own words and bathe in the success of branches at Montacute and Beningbrough Hall.


The announcement, which was a Prime Ministerial one, became public on a Saturday when it appeared in small print in the Public Appointments column of The Times. I recall that it was my day to do Saturday duty at the Portrait Gallery and I sat there feeling rather lonely and unloved. It all seemed such an anticlimax. Then the phone rang and the fruity voice of Richard Buckle, the ballet critic of the Sunday Times, came through, thrilled at the news and asking whether I was doing anything for lunch. ‘No’, I replied. Although he had to dash off early to review a matinée at Covent Garden, he regaled me with champagne and smoked salmon in his skyline flat in Henrietta Street. I’ll never forget that spontaneous gesture. At the time the directorship of the National Portrait Gallery was certainly not the stuff of the news columns. All that, however, was to change. But no one, not even I, could have foreseen just how dramatically and in how short a time.




There is no diary for this year until its closing months and even then it is frankly an uninspiring read, a dozen lines a day recording this and that with only occasional flashes. Nor are the letters to van Dorsten much better. Fluency in both had yet to come. (I have always been a late developer, even now in my early sixties.) In a way this allows me to set the stage for what was to be the biggest transformation scene of my life. For those who have encountered me during my decades on the public stage, where and how it all began may come as something of a surprise. But it should not, for I belong to a sharply defined group of people still active and creative within the Arts, a group which includes Peter Hall and Harold Pinter, for instance, whose origins were in the main quite far down the social scale. My career, like theirs, is the progress of a child of lower-middle-class roots who, thanks to the Education Acts and a dedicated mother, was able to climb the educational ladder and enter another world.


I was born in the north London suburb of Winchmore Hill in a late-1920s terrace house on 23 August 1935, the youngest of the three sons of an impoverished commercial traveller, George Edward Clement Strong, and his wife, Mabel Ada Smart. The marriage was not a good one. My father had no sense of responsibility whatsoever for any of his children. As is so often the case, it was my mother who was to be the driving force to secure for them what her father had told her was the key to their future, their education. To achieve that she worked hard, taking every kind of job and leaving behind her a debt that no son can ever adequately repay.


Shy and introspective, I felt alone in this unhappy, riven household, creating instead my own secure world of toy theatres and through wielding the paintbrush. Early on I became fascinated by the past, and although what I would like to have done most was to design for the stage (later I had the good fortune to marry into that), it was deemed safe for me to go on to read History at the university



with perhaps a career in teaching in mind That came at the end of important formative years at the local grammar school, Edmonton County, where there happened to be one other boy, slightly older, who was also to achieve public distinction, Norman Tebbit. I reminded him of that fact decades later and it makes me smile to think of our two faces looking down from the school’s walls today.


There I owed much to dedicated teachers who responded to what was an optimistic era of opportunities for those for whom advancement through education until then had not been possible. Joan Henderson, my history teacher, fired me with a love of the Elizabethan age that has never left me. Doris Staples not only taught me Latin but also instilled in me the disciplines of unremitting hard work. The year in which I was appointed Director of the National Portrait Gallery she sent back to me a letter which I had written her in 1954 in which I wrote: ‘I realise that one degree is not really of much use – interesting jobs are so difficult to get. All I want to be is something like the Director of the National Portrait Gallery or the Head of a Department at the Victoria and Albert Museum!’ My art master also once said to me, witheringly, as though it were a fate too appalling to contemplate, ‘You’ll end up Director of the National Portrait Gallery’. It is fascinating that those two institutions, with which I fell in love in my early teens, should have already been formulated in my mind as ambitions. The likelihood of someone from my background ending up as Director of each by the age of thirty-eight was, at that time, pure fantasy. But I am fortunate in that I have always known the direction in which I wanted to go and followed it with unswerving tenacity and application. That, I now realise, is a rare attribute.


So I read History under S.T. Bindoff at Queen Mary College in the Mile End Road from 1953 to 1956, not a particularly happy period of my life, achieving a First Class Honours Degree, much to everyone’s surprise, and securing the vital scholarship I needed



to proceed to research for a doctorate under the great Renaissance scholar Dame Frances Yates (who will appear later in this book). I had been passionately interested in the portraiture of Elizabeth I while still in the sixth form but that topic was to become a sideline while I wrote a thesis on Elizabethan court pageantry. To the Warburg Institute and to Frances Yates I owe an incalculable debt in restructuring my mind. Unbeknown to me, an interest in early English portraiture was exceptional at the time and, in 1959, I joined the staff of the National Portrait Gallery.


The Portrait Gallery then was a very different place from the vibrant institution that we know today. There were just over thirty staff including the Director, Kingsley Adams, and three Assistant Keepers, of which I was the most junior. It was a pretty drear place with the portraits, uncleaned and glazed, hung virtually frame to frame over the acres of wall space. David Piper always used to cite the entry in one guide to London at that period which read: ‘National Portrait Gallery. No lavatories.’ It was in fact a great institution that had gone to sleep, presided over by a Board of Trustees, headed by Lord Kenyon, which was certainly conservative in stance, not to say almost reactionary. None of the waves of innovation that stemmed from the United States had yet reached it, although they had already transformed, for instance, the Victoria and Albert Museum under the aegis of Leigh Ashton.


I recall early on, at a dinner party, being asked where I worked and I said the National Portrait Gallery. My neighbour snapped back at me: ‘Oh, that dreary place!’ I swore that if it was the last thing I did I would change that perception of the institution. But it wasn’t easy being the junior member of staff buried in the basement and in my second year, by now deeply unhappy, I almost left for academe. During this period I steadily built up a reputation as a scholar in the field of English Renaissance studies, publishing my earliest books and a long stream of articles. I did my first exhibition



in 1963, The Winter Queen, when my frustrated theatrical bent was able, for the first time, to find public expression. Then, from 1963–4, I became involved in the Shakespeare exhibition at Stratford-upon-Avon. Richard (Dicky) Buckle, who organised that, was already a hero of mine from his incredible Diaghilev exhibition. What this experience exposed me to for the first time was the creative arts of the present, having up until then lived wholly in the past. It was also a great turning-point in my mental make-up. I fell in love with today, and I remember having a barber cut my hair back to front to project a new image of myself.


By 1967, within the small world of museums and art historical scholarship, I was beginning to impinge on public consciousness. In 1966 my face appeared on the cover of the Illustrated London News and there was coverage within on this new young museum lion. This was not regarded with favour by David Piper, who by then had become the Gallery’s Director, but he did give me my head, allowing me to begin rearranging the public galleries. By then, too, I was writing both for The Times and the Spectator, recruited by Hilary Spurling, the latter’s arts editor at the time.


The year 1967 finds me in a flat in Lancaster Gate, having escaped the suburbs three years before. I shared it with the future head of the British Library’s Manuscripts Department, Michael Borrie. It was London in the late Swinging Sixties and I loved every minute of it, one long revel of entertainment and dressing-up in velvets and furbelows. Everything had seemed set that this should continue for the coming years with the hope that, in an era when ‘dead men’s shoes’ still pertained, I would end up one day, unless I blotted my copybook, as Director. All that changed when, on 1 June, I precipitately began what could have been a reign of thirty-four years.


For the first few months I decided that I had to conform to some preconceived directorial image, so I had two wardrobes, one of which, made up of safe suits and sober ties, was for the Gallery.



It wasn’t long before the strain of being Dr Jekyll and Mr Hyde began to tell and I thought they must have appointed me for what I am, warts and all, and decided to be myself. Another of life’s great turning-points had been achieved. From that moment everything took off, and Dr Strong of the fedora hat and maxi-coat, the Regency velvet jacket and ruffled shirt, stepped into the media limelight.


The friendship with Cecil Beaton began this year and that, too, was another watershed. That introduction I owed to Dicky Buckle. Shortly after I came into office I had lunch with Dicky, who knew Beaton, and I asked him if Beaton would ever consider an exhibition of his portrait photographs at the Gallery. Within a matter of days we found ourselves lunching with Beaton at his elegant house in Pelham Place, South Kensington. This was virtually my first entrance into a world with which I was to become all too familiar. I wrote to Jan van Dorsten on 3 June: ‘He has agreed to present prints of any of his portrait photographs that we want, 1927–1967. They are ravishing and brilliant and of all the greats. To mark this, Buckle will design a Beaton show in the autumn of ’68 which ought to cause a furore! Beaton is thrilled.’ In fact Beaton was rather in eclipse at that period. He was, however, someone whose work had hypnotised me since I was a teenager. On this first visit, when he took us up to the top floor to look at his files, he was astonished at how excited I was about his early work – all those pictures of Edith Sitwell as a Gothic tomb effigy or Tilly Losch emerging from a cloud of cellophane. I was in fact rediscovering him.


Meanwhile, someone who was to become another great friend, the remarkable and reclusive editor of Vogue, Beatrix Miller, decided that something must be stirring down in St Martin’s Place and commissioned Cecil to photograph me. ‘The 12 September issue of Vogue contains me by Beaton’, I wrote to Jan. ‘He chose a sane photo, not one of the ones where I was reclining full-length under Queen Victoria or embracing a showcase containing General Wolfe.’ To my



eyes I stare out of that picture like a retarded undergraduate floating in an ocean of beruffed Jacobean grandees. Beatrix said that it was the best photo Beaton had taken for her for years. She also began to ask me to write for Vogue, which was in one of its great periods: ‘Just the sort of thing an NPG Director ought to do to brush away the dowdy cobwebs’, I recorded at the time.


But I’d inherited problems. The Gallery was poor and I was suddenly faced with two major portraits to save. The first was Thomas Hudson’s full-length portrait of the composer Handel with Messiah open before him, a picture that had been on loan to the Gallery for years but which was now snatched away to be sold. Then there was the self-portrait of the painter George Stubbs. Up until then Portrait Gallery directors accepted that expensive works of art were not for them. That was not to be my policy. I wouldn’t take it lying down, and over the Handel we launched an appeal. It owed a huge debt to Hugh Leggatt, the dealer who acted for the Portrait Gallery in the saleroom and who never charged commission and was one of the institution’s most loyal supporters. He also became a firm personal friend and together we were able to achieve much for the Gallery.


The saga of the Handel portrait went on for a year. In December I had lunch with the singer Joan Sutherland’s agent who indicated that she wished to help with the appeal. On 10 July of the following year she sang in a performance of Messiah in the Albert Hall with the portrait as a backdrop. Princess Alexandra graced the occasion. I went on stage and presented Joan Sutherland with a framed print of Handel, something of which I reminded her twenty years later when I met her again at the opening of the Twentieth-Century Gallery. Over the Stubbs I was lucky too. One of the Trustees was Carola Oman, Lady Lenanton, the aunt of my future wife. She twisted the arm quite sharply of a rich member of the racing fraternity and all was well. But both these successful campaigns signalled what my



future life was to be, epitomised when I wrote: ‘Another endless, relentless, soul-destroying battering of the Government for money.’


1967, therefore, was really ‘Overture and Beginners, please’. A number of the cast had already made their entrances on to what was to be the stage of my life. The first six months had seen the blue touchpaper put into place. It did not have to wait long to be ignited.


The Diary opens quite abruptly:


9 NOVEMBER


Hilary Spurling at The Spectator and dinner at the Brinsley Fords’


I had lunch at the Terrazza with Hilary Spurling, who was very pleased at the prospect of taking over the book pages of The Spectator as well as the theatre reviews. In the afternoon I went with Richard Ormond to Hackney to view a deplorable set of late Victorian portraits of celebrities. They were so awful that I advised removing them from their stretchers and rolling the canvases up . . . .


Dinner at Brinsley Ford’s at Wyndham Place. The guests: Father d’Arcy, Esmé, Lady Carlisle, Wyndham Ketton-Cremer, Robert Cecil and John Pope-Hennessy. I felt twenty-five years too young for this gathering. Ketton-Cremer was busy on a book on the Civil War in East Anglia. Robert Cecil, although seemingly benign and chatty, I sensed was a snob, but what is one to do? The Fords were charming. Lady Carlisle suggested to me that I should write a diary, which is why I am writing this. John Pope-Hennessy seems to have read everything – every journal, paper, novel, the lot. Father d’Arcy was an engaging Jesuit and I could understand why one goes over to Rome.




11 NOVEMBER


The Lord Mayor’s Show


I went to the Lord Mayor’s Show as the guest of Sir Gilbert Inglefield. It was the best Show that I can remember, one dedicated to the Arts from the Mermaid Theatre to the Youth Orchestra. Worked on my lecture on Charles I, which was to be delivered to the Society of Antiquaries.


14 NOVEMBER


Enter Harold Acton


A grand lunch given by John Pope-Hennessy at his house in Bedford Gardens, the other guests being Brian Reade [of the V&A] and Harold Acton. The house had dull wallpapers but good things. I found Harold Acton rather frightening, with a pale, massaged look to his face, almost as though it had been lifted. The talk was terribly 1920s and 1930s with a litany of names – Roger Hinks, Arthur Waley, the Sitwells, the Astors, the Wrightsmans, Bernard Berenson, the Mostyn-Owens, etc. I felt that I could not nor would ever want to be part of all of that [how wrong I was!].


15 NOVEMBER


A visit to a wax effigy


I went with Madeleine Ginsburg to Downham Market and thence to Stow Bardolph, firstly to have lunch with the Hare baronet and



then to view the wax effigy of his ancestor Sarah Hare in the chapel, sitting in a box which was a cross between a confessional and a sedan chair. This was a wax effigy with glass eyes, wearing a complete c.1740 dress.


During this period I was gradually moving into a flat at 2E Morpeth Terrace.


18 NOVEMBER


The new flat and a Henry James play


I worked on the new flat. I took Astrid [Zydower] to Henry James’s The High Bid, with entrancing Fenella Fielding playing Ellen Terry’s role. The plot was idiotic but there were some marvellous moments. Astrid was busy house hunting.


20 NOVEMBER


The Elizabethan Image exhibition and the race for the National Gallery


I had lunch with Norman Reid, Martin Butlin and Judith Cloake over the Elizabethan Image exhibition. There was much speculation as to who had been appointed the new Director of the National Gallery. The interviews had taken place a fortnight ago and there was still no announcement. There was a shortlist of six: Michael Jaffé, John White, Lawrence Gowing, Hugh Scrutton, Cecil Gould and Martin Davies. I found subsequently that Gowing had been offered the Tate but Lord Bridges had refused to have him. I campaigned for



more money to mount the exhibition. £7,000 was needed. Christopher Firmstone was to design it. Later that day heard that Martin Davies had been appointed Philip Hendy’s successor. Which is very good.


I also signed the lease of my new flat.


22 NOVEMBER


A dreary dinner


I was invited to dinner by Sir Trenchard Cox. A very dreary evening with dreary people: the Crighton-Stuarts, Sir William and Lady Bragge and a spinster lady who made pots. The furniture was good but the wallpaper and curtains nasty. I wonder why I was asked? Over early, thank heaven!


23 NOVEMBER


My lecture to the Society of Antiquaries


A jolly lunch with Desmond FitzGerald, who seemed very cheery, after which we whizzed up and down the Fulham Road looking for pedestals. Several were purchased. I rushed back to give my lecture on Charles I at the Antiquaries to a packed but leaden audience that included Frances Yates. Apparently it was a huge success but it left me feeling flat. I tottered on to see the outrageous, cudgel-bashing Mrs Wilson’s Diary, with dinner at the Gaylord after.




25 NOVEMBER


A lunch and a dinner


A lunch party at Desmond FitzGerald’s with everyone in top form: Tessa Reay, Alexander and Sarah Dunluce and the Littmans. After on to Fulham to see Angela Conner’s new sculpture, which, oddly enough, was rather good. She looked very tired. Bob Clatworthy had left her and her love life was awry. Back and out to dine at Michael and Pat Jaffé’s. He is RUDE. Also there were Veronica Wedgwood and Jacqueline Hope-Wallace (this relationship never crossed my mind before) and Lord Airlie. The Jaffés are really tasteless and the food was very ordinary – and included a shop-bought gâteau.


27 NOVEMBER


Martin Davies and a new NPG Trustee


Martin Davies came to see me and told me of his appointment, which would be official later in the day. I could not be more pleased from the point of view of the NPG, although it was clearly a postponed decision. Martin will only be Director for five years. Christopher Cockerell, our new Trustee, came in, charming and self-effacing and looking a like a good appointment for the NPG.


28 NOVEMBER


Arthur Waley and lunch at Buckingham Palace


A Mrs Pearson (née Waley) came to see me, offering two drawings of Arthur Waley by Rex Whistler. Whatever was the set-up? Clearly she



and Mrs Waley were at daggers drawn and Mrs Waley was supposed to have deliberately destroyed Roger Fry’s portrait of him.


The person the vendor was referring to was Alison Grant Robinson, whom Waley married only a month before his death in June 1966. The Whistler drawing was acquired.


I was summoned to lunch at Buckingham Palace. The other guests were Julie Christie (the mini-girl of the moment with a tiny sensuous face), Max Rayne (Rayne Foundation, money), Robin Mackworth-Young (the Royal Librarian, a great relief for me), Jonathan Aitken (I did not chat to him), Professor Richard Guyatt (Royal College of Art) and Dr Graham Booth (a very nice physician). Twelve of us in all sat down to lunch.


I arrived at 12.50 p.m. and was shown to the Bow Room, which looks over the terrace on to the grounds and where drinks were served and introductions made. The entrance of the Queen and Prince Philip was heralded by an onrush of corgis and we were rounded up and presented. I then got stuck into a four-cornered conversation with the Queen about the Galapagos Islands. The food was well presented but indifferent, the Queen extremely relaxed and very intelligent, more so, I thought, than Philip as she is more considered in her judgements. As instructed by Lord Kenyon, I tackled her about a new royal family group for the Portrait Gallery. She denounced the James Gunn and also went on to say that she wouldn’t allow a portrait, which had just been finished, to go to Scotland as it was too awful. Another made her into a midget. Annigoni was the only artist whose name passed her lips. Do I tackle the possibility of her sitting to Annigoni again? The party broke up at 2.45 p.m. and Max Rayne drove me back to the NPG.




29 NOVEMBER


Post mortem on the lunch


Oliver Millar told me how the lunch had been divided between the Yahoos and the Intellectuals, with me amongst the latter! I wrote to Max Rayne suggesting that he should present the NPG with a new Annigoni portrait of the Queen.


Chevening had been left to the nation by Lord Stanhope in 1959 with the idea that it should be a country seat for the Prince of Wales or, failing that, the Foreign Secretary.


30 NOVEMBER


Chevening House


I had lunch with John Pope-Hennessy, who said that he had been offered the National Gallery by Jennie Lee but had refused it. He did not approve of Martin Davies’s appointment and went on to denounce Michael Levey, etc. I went to Chevening with him and John Harthan and George Wingfield Digby. It was a long, dreary drive as the driver had not been told how to get there. The house had huge potential but was now both sunless and dowdy, although there was a good tapestry room, Bradshaw furniture and Alan Ramsay portraits. Lord Stanhope’s secretary, Miss Shotter, was a loquacious pain-in-the-neck.




6 DECEMBER


Steven Runciman’s portrait


Derek Hill brought in his good portrait of Steven Runciman, which he offered for £200. Runciman, he said, was a witch, etc., and it was what might be described as a diabolical portrait.


Lunch with Christopher White. Dicky Buckle came in to discuss the Cecil Beaton exhibition.


7 DECEMBER


Film adumbrated for the NPG


Lunch with Colin Ford of the British Film Institute, who mooted the idea of Room 20 of the NPG being turned into a cinema for showing films of celebrities. This could be very exciting.


13 DECEMBER


Frances Yates performs


I went to Frances Yates’s lecture at the Warburg Institute. As usual she produced something extraordinary out of the hat. I joined the dinner party afterwards at Bertorelli’s: Frances Yates, D.P. Walker and Ernst Gombrich and wife. Much erudite pie-in-the-sky chatter. Afterwards I took Yates to her hotel, she openly hinting that I ought to succeed Gombrich as Director of the Institute in ten years’ time (but I don’t want to!).




21 DECEMBER


Joan Sutherland to sing Messiah for the appeal for the portrait of Handel


I heard from the Department of Education and Science of the economic chopper on any additional gallery staff, with a threatened reduction of our Appropriation in Aid of £3,000 along with a reduction in public services. What sods in this bloody Government! I had lunch with Mr Radford, Joan Sutherland’s agent. It was interesting to hear how she idolises her son, Adam, and sings to him each night, with him sitting in a box. The performance of Messiah in July is to go ahead











1968


If 1967 had been extraordinary, 1968 was to be even more so. Lloyd Kenyon, in a speech at a farewell dinner given for him as Chairman of the Trustees of the National Portrait Gallery by Sir Hugh Leggatt in the Eighties, recalled: ‘And then came Roy. It was like being attached to the tail of Halley’s comet.’ Suddenly I was everywhere. Cecil Beaton swung wide for me the door into the beau monde and, after his exhibition opened at the end of the year, both the Gallery and its young Director epitomised a new energy in museums, reflecting the era we now categorise as the ‘Swinging Sixties’. Quentin Crewe wrote in November: ‘It is simply incredible that the Trustees of such a fuddy-duddy organisation should pick a witty, zippy, mischievous man of thirty-two to look after the likenesses of the figures of British history.’ In retrospect, incredible it was.


I was, of course, initially entirely seduced by it all. Suddenly I was thrown into a whole new world. London society in the late Sixties had its old guard and its young, with some, like Beaton, who traversed both. The latter was also true of the young Dufferins, Sheridan and Lindy, whom I first met at a dinner in June. Droll and saturnine, with the face of a depressed if affectionate basset hound, Sheridan was the perfect foil for his wife’s insouciant explosions. With her superb bone structure, halo of curly hair and almost mad laugh, Lindy seemed to exude energy, so much so that she often generated it in other people. In their house in Holland Villas Road, with its two huge rooms hung with vast pictures by David Hockney, everyone who was brightest, most creative, or just plain beautiful frequently gathered. Sheridan’s annual birthday party, which floated on an ocean of champagne with about two hundred guests scattered through the candlelit garden, became one of the great events of the year. In September I went to stay with them in Ireland at their house, Clandeboye, for the first time.




This was the period too when Lady Antonia Fraser was making her mark as a writer and also as a hostess, presiding over gatherings at her house in Campden Hill Square. Antonia came into my life through her mother, Elizabeth Longford. When my wife’s aunt, Carola Oman, came off the Portrait Gallery Board we needed a replacement, preferably another female biographer. Lloyd Kenyon tended to be a snob and I knew he’d love a countess, so I suggested Lady Longford. Elizabeth, who had published a superb biography of Queen Victoria, said that I must meet her daughter Antonia. Her gatherings followed the pattern of those during this period, beginning with a dinner, after which a second tide of guests arrived. It was difficult to get to bed much before 1 a.m. and it is hardly surprising that a recurring theme in my diary for this year is one recording tiredness and exhaustion. Other key exponents of this kind of entertainment were Judy Gendel, George Weidenfeld and Anne Fleming. All were sooner or later to recruit me to their ranks. One was at full pelt.


These were occasions that called for male sartorial display – another characteristic of the late 1960s. In May I wrote to Jan van Dorsten: ‘I have just bought the most outrageous black damask skirted jacket with a high-standing collar like Beau Brummell.’ A dandy museum director must have been another eccentric phenomenon at the time,



for until then convention had dictated all. Beaton was an influence, and I adopted a broad-brimmed fedora. The advent of this apparition did not pass unnoticed for the fashion journalist Alison Adburgham, when writing in the Guardian in June about an ‘evening suit in black Venetian cloth trimmed with Russian braid . . .’ went on to say: ‘One could well imagine it being worn by an aristocratic poet at a soirée, or by the Director of the National Portrait Gallery.’


Lunch parties even then seemed to belong to another age. They betokened arriving at 12.45 p.m. and not leaving until nearly three. They epitomised leisure, an elegance and an intimacy. Usually they were of about eight or two tables of eight, rarely more. Cecil always gave lunches. They were in impeccable taste. I went to many but the most memorable occurred this year on 10 April, when I was bidden to meet the Queen Mother. ‘The Queen Mother always meets the same old boring people,’ Cecil drawled down the telephone, ‘so I’m asking you.’ My record of it is deficient but I recall the actress Irene Worth extolling the virtues of Fortuny dresses, which she always wore for solo performances, and Diana Cooper arriving with a tiny dog which she deposited on her lap during lunch. Knowing of this encounter, I was dragooned by Lloyd Kenyon to ask Queen Elizabeth whether she would open Cecil’s exhibition (which she did), but Beaton’s own account in which I appear is far more graphic: ‘Roy Strong in a psychedelic tie . . . Introductions: I suddenly found myself nervous and stumbling over my words. Roy calm-headed [I wasn’t]. The topic was the lack of painted portraiture today. Would Graham Sutherland be good to paint the Queen?’ I do remember Cecil cursing Edith Sitwell, who had been a guest the last time the Queen Mother had come, and whose arrival had been heralded by an ambulance, a gangplank and male nurse outriders gliding her wheelchair to rest.


Lady Waverley was another lunch-giver. She was a great snob. It  was only after I married that she was finally put in her place because my wife remembered that Ava Waverley had been her grandfather’s secretary during the First World War. There was something vaguely sinister about her, living a somewhat rarefied existence in Lord North Street, Westminster.


What was striking about these occasions was that at thirty-two I was usually half the age of everyone else present. Looking back, I was an innocent, learning the ropes of a scene in which one either sank or swam. I swam. The whole drift of what I was being swept into I put in a letter to Jan van Dorsten:


One is fascinated, looking back over the last couple of months, by curious, grand occasions and one’s chance to meet the great ones of the 1918–39 era: Beaton’s lunch for the Queen Mother (who was a duck), legendary Diana Cooper (‘I only appeared on the stage once in Max Reinhardt’s The Miracle . . .’), the Royal Academy Dinner, everyone hung with orders and glittering with tiaras . . . How strange to think that life in England at its core is still like this in 1968. The rich encrusted circles linked to the literati, intelligentsia, elegant and witty, a world of surfaces. Somehow I go down with them like a bomb, which I haven’t fathomed out yet.


This strange new world took that moribund Gallery right to the heart of where everything was happening during those years, and that had never occurred before. The retrospective exhibition of Beaton’s portraits was to be the culmination of the year but by now there was much else happening as my vow to put the Portrait Gallery on the map began to move from a paper dream to reality. Pictures began to be cleaned by Clifford Ellison and there was the thrill of seeing the great full-length of Gloriana, the ‘Ditchley Portrait’, stripped of crude overpaint. The first great suite of redecorated rooms on the



Regency and Victorian period opened, and a series of lunchtime readings entitled People Past and Present began.


That series was something of a landmark and was the idea of John Carroll, who had a string of theatrical dames in tow. Margaret Rutherford was his aunt and he organised the readings at the Shakespeare Festival at Stratford each year. He was a benign, owllike figure whose features showed the permanent agony of someone on the pathway to total deafness. He mooted the idea to me on 22 May and we began that autumn with the first, Dame Flora Robson as Elizabeth I. I wrote to Jan: ‘I’m inundated with Dames – Dame Margaret Rutherford and Dame Sybil Thorndike come to them all.’ Eventually the programmes went on to disc, thanks to Harley Usill, in the Argo series. The one that remains in the forefront of my memory is Sybil recalling Ellen Terry, whose beetle-wing cloak she had worn as Lady Macbeth in 1918. But the series was to be immortalised in 1978 by A.S. Byatt (whom I first met through Antonia Fraser) in her novel The Virgin in the Garden. My copy of this book lies open before me as I write, with its inscription: ‘For Roy with love. And with gratitude for many things, inside and outside this book.’ The Prologue was ‘The National Portrait Gallery: 1968’ and the occasion was Dame Flora as the Virgin Queen. That chapter captures the heady excitement and atmosphere of that year at the Gallery:


The long gallery, in which they took their seats for the recital, was full of a different kind of people. Alexander amused himself by counting powerful women: there was Dame Sybil Thorndike, graciously accepting a throne-like chair from Dr Roy Strong, at that time Director of the Gallery, and an iconographer, possibly even an idolater, of the Virgin Queen. There was Dame Helen Gardner, head up, face benignly severe, Merton Professor of English Literature in the University of Oxford. There was Lady Longford, biographer of Queen Victoria, and in the background he thought, he hoped, he discerned the large, contemplatively vague figure of Dr Frances Yates, whose writings on the images of Elizabeth Tudor as Virgo-Astraea had, as it turned out, signally changed the whole shape of his life.


This was a gathering of women all of whom in one way or another were to have a place in my life too.


Perhaps the most important development for the Gallery, however, was the Trustees’ decision, taken at their June meeting, to collect portraits of the living, although they could not be exhibited within the sitter’s lifetime. That was one battle won, a bloody one at that, but the crack was there upon which to build. For the first time there was the possibility that the Gallery would not be an array of images of the decrepit. A surprising six-foot-high head of Lord Mountbatten by John Ulbricht was acquired for £300, so I was well pleased. But I sensed I couldn’t push it.


Even as early as February I wrote: ‘The NPG Directorship is about one thing – CASH, BLOODY MONEY. The Gallery is miserably, terribly POOR.’ So 1968 was spent impressing on Government our bankruptcy and our inability, previously accepted, to acquire portraits that might enter the category also of being great art. With only £8,000 per annum, Purchase Grant acquisitions of any significance could never be anything other than rarities. I was determined to reverse that. The appeal for the portrait of Handel by Thomas Hudson reached a triumphant conclusion and we successfully purchased the then only certain portrait of Catherine Parr.


1968 opened with me moving from Lancaster Gate to a mid-Victorian mansion flat in Morpeth Terrace overlooking the length of Westminster Cathedral. It had once been lived in by the painter Hercules Brabazon, a number of whose watercolours of views from its windows are in the Victoria and Albert Museum. I was told that



he used to descend the stairs, hail a hansom cab and say ‘Cairo’, and the obliging cabby took him to the appropriate railway station. But the rooms were spacious, with marble fireplaces, and even though I had no money to install central heating, I decorated it as best I could in the prevailing deep colours: olive green, ochre and mulberry. It was the first time that I had ever had a place of my own, even though it was rented, and the first time, too, that I had room to write in. That side of my life, once central, began to become peripheral as the pressure to run and promote a great but forgotten national institution made it increasingly difficult to keep up with any kind of scholarly writing. But the year as a whole was one long whizz.


28 FEBRUARY


Mountbatten, Beaton and Gloriana


In the morning I went to see an amazing portrait by John Ulbricht of Lord Mountbatten offered to the Gallery for £300. It was his head only, six feet high! From there to a lunch party given by Cecil Beaton with Desmond FitzGerald, Louise de la Falaise, Beatrix Miller, the editor of Australian Vogue who happened to be over, Ava, Lady Waverley and Norman St John-Stevas. Later I went to see Clifford Ellison, the restorer, who was busy stripping the repaint from the ‘Ditchley Portrait’ of Elizabeth I. The background had been crudely overpainted and the blue on the left of the picture concealed a misty pale grey-brown. How wonderful it is to clean the National Portrait Gallery’s pictures, all of which are filthy and untouched.




2 MARCH


Nureyev’s Nutcracker


I gave a hilarious lunch party for Christopher and Joan Firmstone, Tony Maitland and Angela Conner. Angela, who, although working hard, was radiant. I thought what a fascinating, intelligent and riveting woman she was. She is, she says, happy and so is her sister, Penelope Gilliat, with the new man in her life, Mike Nichols.


In the evening I went to Nureyev’s production of Nutcracker at the Royal Opera House. At the close the applause went on and on for at least twenty minutes (after which I left) and flowers were showered onto the stage. Nureyev was hauled back on again, wearing a black regency-style jacket trimmed with fur and black trousers. The décor by Nicholas Georgiadis was wonderful, particularly the costumes, but there was little good choreography. Although Nureyev has an acute sense of ‘theatre’, his choreography fell short.


5 MARCH


The designer Anthony Powell


I took Anthony Powell to see a just about bearable production of Tartuffe at the National Theatre, with the text rendered into rhyming couplets, a good set but awful, badly cut costumes. Afterwards we had supper at The Garden. Ant, now a hugely successful designer, must have been gorgeous when young. He is very anti-Beaton, having worked for him – describing him as ‘porcelain all the way through’. Beaton and Oliver Messel had lived opposite each other in Pelham Place, outdoing each other in grandeur. Messel, of course,



won as his nephew, Lord Snowdon, married Princess Margaret. Ant was in Reddish House and saw the expression on Beaton’s face when he was rung up and told.


7 MARCH


The political world


A great political lunch given by Hugh Leggatt so that I could meet Tony Royle, the MP, and Kenneth Rose, the journalist, both of whom will agitate for the Portrait Gallery if needed. The political scene at the moment was very hectic Royle said. Harold Wilson had summoned Cecil King and charged him about the Daily Mirror being anti-government for over a year. The Prime Minister offered him a PC and a peerage but he declined them. The recent near-defeat of the Government was because nearly all the MPs were over in 10 Downing Street at a party!


11 MARCH


The Lawsons


Nigel and Vanessa Lawson gave a dinner in great style. Nigel is editor of the Spectator, to which I owe much, having made in its pages my first significant journalistic debut, thanks to Hilary Spurling. How she got on to the magazine was quite extraordinary. She told me that they wanted a boxing correspondent so she immediately volunteered. True or not, a foot was firmly secured in a door which was eventually prised open to let me in as a reviewer of art exhibitions twice a month, one piece of 750, and the other of 1,500 words. Oh,



how welcome those cheques had been to me, struggling along on £750 per annum.


I don’t really know Nigel but he always reminds me of George IV en profile by Sir Thomas Lawrence, elegant, handsome in a way, with his tousled curly hair. Vanessa is a petite dark beauty, this evening looking like a porcelain figure in transparent furbelows. An evening like this betokened a wish to make a mark; but to what end, I wondered?


But the real event was to find myself placed between the two beauties of two eras, Diana Cooper and Antonia Fraser. Diana’s pale blue staring eyes rather terrify me and recall the basilisk glance of Lady Waverley. But Diana was very funny about Paul Getty, from whom she had been trying to extract some money for a charity. ‘He’s so mean, he even had his face lifted on the cheap.’ Eventually Getty had produced his wallet and pressed a five-pound note into her hand. She smoked incessantly and ate little, pecking at a trout. Nureyev, she said, was a far better dancer than Nijinsky, which I thought interesting.


Antonia was in frills and I think I rather frightened her with a blaze of historical erudition. She has made herself a beauty by application rather than through attribution. Helen Vlachos, the Greek exile, was also there. I shared a taxi home with someone I hadn’t met before, Peter Coats, who seems to know everybody and appeared deeply curious about this young man who had been accorded the placement of the evening.


16 MARCH


C.N.R. Routh at Charlecote


I had a nostalgic morning at Stratford-upon-Avon followed by lunch at Charlecote with the former history master at Eton, C.N.R.




Routh. Photographs of renaissance bronzes of gorgeous boys were much in evidence. Routh remembered Sir Lionel Cust as a rather dotty, ridiculous figure and was very pro Sir Henry Hake.


9 APRIL


Woburn Abbey and the Bedfords


This was a somewhat muddled day. I went to Woburn to see the early pictures and caught the wrong train and so missed being picked up at the station. But I saw the collection, which confirmed the opinions I had already made on the early portraits. But I thought that the Duchess, who talked non-stop, was really rather awful: rich, French and fierce. The Duke, wearing a blue check polo neck matching the colour of his eyes, was sweet, a bit fey, a sort of beat-boy Duke. The whole place is a funfair, which runs on relentlessly. After lunch they posed on bicycles as a PR stunt, the Duke having been recently disqualified for bad driving.


25 APRIL


Lunch at Ava, Lady Waverley’s


The lunch was at Lady Waverley’s house in Lord North Street and the guests were Isaiah and Aline Berlin, John Betjeman, Duncan Grant, Mrs Barry (Nin) Ryan and the wife of the Italian ambassador. Duncan Grant was not attired in a suit but crumpled trousers and jacket, his hair lank and his wizened but still ‘young’ face inset with rather beautiful eyes. I found him a fascinating man, still at eighty-three interested in everything new, as typified by the ICA’s current



exhibition called The Obsessive Image. John Sparrow I thought was in his fifties, his face lined like an old roué but with a very sharp intellect. He was about ‘power’ and we got off to a bad start but ended by agreeing. Betjeman was a feminine old man with fluttery weak eyes, to look at a cross between Margaret Rutherford and Billy Bunter.


The setting was the dining room on the ground floor, an elegant room with white panelling, Turkish mirrors, the tablecloth and napkins pink with pink and white flowers and pink on white toile covered chairs. Only Lady Waverley could have a trophy of oranges, each one of which contrived to have a stalk and leaf attached, arranged as a still life to reflect in a mirror. As I left that lunch party she stared at me and said, ‘I do like you because you have illusions’.


1 MAY


The Royal Academy Dinner


I went to my first Royal Academy Banquet and sat opposite Francis Watson, who was entertaining on the museum ancien régime. On my left was Duncan Grant, which was a nice surprise (I fixed up to go to his studio), and on my right Andrew Freeth, a sweet man who does nice but indifferent portrait drawings. This was an order-laden gathering, with Princess Alexandra, who made a brief little speech, looking lovely. Jennie Lee, wearing huge earrings, had her hair lacquered out at all angles; Joyce Grenfell wore green; Edward Croft-Murray was all a-flutter; and Lord Eccles made a super ‘save the British Museum Library’ speech. The food was indifferent, the wine good.




MAY


Henrietta Maria comes and goes


The great excitement of the season for the NPG was the De la Haye sale on 27 May, which included a huge miniature of Henrietta Maria wearing what looked like a masquing costume with a bejewelled ostrich feather in her hair; it bore the monogram of Samuel Cooper on the reverse. It was stunning and Van der Dort had recorded it in the Cabinet Room of Whitehall Palace, where it was given to John Hoskins. This is one of the great portrait miniatures and I was determined that the Gallery should have it. That meant eliminating any possible competitors where one could, and the V&A signalled their disinterest. It then boiled down to us versus the Royal Collection, and Oliver Millar made it very clear that he would be furious if the Queen failed to get it.


In order to enter the saleroom I had somehow to cobble together £6,000. Our solitary charitable fund produced £2,500 and I petitioned the historian Veronica Wedgwood, who promised £500, while there was £1,000 from our own Purchase Grant. I whammed in a ferocious letter to the DES [Department of Education and Science] demanding £3,000, which would mean that we would enter the saleroom with £7,000 but that I had to know by 22 May. I really can’t bear this hand-to-mouth existence, not helped by being conscious that a portrait of Henry VIII’s last queen, Catherine Parr, is in the offing.


The day before the reply from the DES was due, the Queen expressed her personal wish to buy the miniature. That meant we had to climb down in deference to the royal will. Robin Mackworth-Young, who is a gent, at least had the decency to come and explain the position to me in person. It was an agonised conversation and



I was dreadfully upset. Then came the final blow, that the DES anyway would not consider giving a Special Grant. With all the nervous energy, work and hysteria that had gone on around this single object, I began to see why David Piper had moved on. I wonder whether I ought to throw in the job if it’s going to be like this.


The miniature was purchased by the Queen. I felt that the palace had behaved pretty badly, overruling the national interest, which Hugh Leggatt had pleaded in a letter that was not even acknowledged. I felt that the Queen had been wrong; but there was nothing to be done.


18 MAY


A tour of Northamptonshire seats


I rose early and caught the 9.15 a.m. train to Northampton, where I was picked up by Desmond FitzGerald. Our tour began at Althorp, where we were ticked off at length by the portly and extremely tetchy Lord Spencer. Loathed by the county, as we were to learn at our other ports of call, his lordship has never recovered from not being made a KG. The house was freezing cold and we hung on to our coats as we were soldiered past the serried ranks of ancestors culminating in a grand gallery of Lelys and Van Dycks. We ended up in the lived-in part of the house, where a decanter of sherry and two glasses stood on a silver salver in the middle of an oak table. Made to feel like servants, we drank the ritual glass that betokened aristocratic hospitality before moving on to Brockhall, which turned out to be an entrancing, somewhat tumbledown small Jacobean house with a surprising interior in the Gothic mode, but whose decoration otherwise left much to be desired.




The Hesketh house, Easton Neston, beckoned next. What a stunner, fit to be a trianon for Louis XIV. Here Desmond’s new girlfriend, ‘Spider’ Quennell, surfaced, dark-haired and vivacious, and the temperature began to rise. With the Heskeths, mother and son, the atmosphere became even more electric, she like the Princess Eboli with one eye concealed by a black patch and sporting a huge baroque jewel. There’s an inspired wildness about Kisty Hesketh but firmly held in by a taut intellect. Alexander, at seventeen, was already huge and his pale puffy face and blond hair put me in mind of portraits of George IV’s brothers by Liotard. Today he was dressed all in virgin white with at least three silk scarfs fluttering around his neck. Here there was much dwelling on the evils of Lord Spencer, whose dislike of Lady Hesketh could be taken to extremes, as when he individually rang up every member of a committee she had asked to lunch to persuade them to decline. Here indeed was cool baroque splendour maintained still at full pelt with no sign of fraying at the edges, which probably explains the green eye beaming from icy Althorp. Desmond told me that the house was very haunted, and how someone once passed the night in a room where no dog could ever have been. In the middle of the night there was an eerie pitter-patter of paws around the room and, extending his hand from the bed, the luckless sleeper found it licked. The room was in fact empty.


No rest for us and on we went to Lamport and Gyles Isham, one of my Trustees, a great charmer, gentle and avuncular. It is difficult to think of him as an actor or that Cecil Beaton told me that while up at Cambridge he had driven miles to see Gyles as Hamlet: ‘He had the most beautiful back view I’d ever seen.’ Looking at him now, the ‘glass of fashion’ would be my last description of the man. But Lamport’s a friendly house with no great pretensions and, as befitted him in his new role as antiquarian and chronicler, Gyles had scrupulously documented every picture and piece of furniture in the house from the family archive.




Our last port of call was Drayton, a quite wonderful house with an approach as though to a castle in The Faerie Queene. Here was a huge contrast to what had gone before and we were in a sense back where we had started at Althorp, only more so, a freezing interior with crumbling walls and disintegrating décor. The owners, one felt, were feeling the struggle to be an unequal one. Colonel Stopford-Sackville, a large, jolly military gent, and his husky-voiced wife poured us out gin by the tumbler load. Drayton was filled with treasures and I longed to linger. There was the Mary I I’d had for the Eworth exhibition and an amazing tapestry that had belonged to Elizabeth’s first favourite, Leicester. But the owners’ real pride was their new kitchen. With all their problems, I was hardly surprised.


24–27 MAY


Cecil Beaton at Reddish


The dramas over Henrietta Maria had left me exhausted but I’d been asked by Cecil Beaton to Reddish for the weekend. Not knowing the form, I felt nervous. Young and dull would perhaps have better described me; whether I was or not I don’t know but I was often hopelessly out of it in conversations about the great and the fashionable of the 1920s and ’30s. But I adored the house. I’d thought that it would have been larger than it was but instead it reminded me of the Mauritshuis, a small, rusty red-brick late-seventeenth-century villa, grandeur in miniature. It was set back only a little from the road and held in by bulging clipped yews. A short elegant flight of steps led up to the front door, over which presided a solitary, rather grubby bust of a Roman emperor in a niche. The door opened on to a flagstoned hall with grey marble columns and pilasters, and it



was only then that I realised that the house had begun its life only one room thick.


No detail in terms of decoration ever escapes Cecil’s eagle eye. It was, after all, the stage-set upon which he acted his life and never more so than in what he called his ‘Lady Windermere’s Fan’ room. That was off to the left, up a few steps leading to double doors which swung wide, revealing a room that evoked shades of Lillie Langtry rather than those of William and Mary. Here was splendour and clutter in the Edwardian manner, so that I would not have been surprised to have glimpsed his beloved Queen Alexandra pottering among the explosion of palms and silver-framed photographs at the far end of the room. The wainscot and ceiling were a greyish-white highlighted with gold and the walls were covered in crimson velvet and banked with pictures. Either side of the double doors there were gilt console tables with huge gilt mirrors reflecting a large pair of busts of Louis XVI and Marie Antoinette. But this theatrical richness was overlaid with cascades of flowers, roses, not only real ones, which were in vases everywhere, but across the Aubusson carpet, the fabric of the loose covers and the curtains. Flowers were the key to this house. No room was without them, nor dining table devoid of a bouquet.


Off ‘Lady Windermere’ there was another accretion, a Gothic conservatory, where I suppose Cecily and Gwendolen might have bantered, white but filled with Chinese blue-and-white containers and censers, and embowered with a profusion of climbing geraniums and pink mallows. At its centre there was a tiny pond with goldfish. Here the air was moist and scented.


Cecil always opened up as he strode around the garden. There were the palest pink roses swagged on to garlands, long ropes worthy of a Gaiety Girl, climbers all over the house, a terrace which led on to a broad swathe of lawn and further gardens, the whole held in by rising land on which grew a concealing curtain of mature trees. There



was an orchard, a wild garden with spring flowers, a broad walk to a seat flanked with wide herbaceous borders, a kitchen garden and a new little abstract lavender garden around an old sundial.


The more I see of Cecil, the more extraordinary he becomes. In a way his mind is filled with nothing, in another way it’s filled with everything. The former observation comes from the academic in me, for disciplined intellectual knowledge is a foreign country to him, quickly revealing horrendous gaps in even at times the most rudimentary facts about the past. But as an observer of surfaces and essences I think he remains unsurpassed. He fascinates me with his pale blue eyes, quite steely at times, and fluttering eyelashes set into a delicate expanse of pale pink skin. His lips are always firm-set and when displeased or angry take on the quality of being frayed at the edges. His gestures are feminine and there is that wonderful mannered voice with its calculated and cultivated drawl. But, over all the rest, his manners can never be faulted.


I felt a bit like Daniel in the lions’ den. The other guests were the actress Irene Worth and John and Gillian Sutro. The Sutros I never worked out but he had known Cecil when he was an undergraduate; there was much talk of Merle Oberon and he was forever disappearing to the telephone, but he was intelligent and perceptive. The real star was Irene, with her deep-throated voice and swooping enthusiasms. After dinner one evening she surprised us all by imitating Bernhardt taking a curtain-call, lower, lower and even lower, ending up flat on the floor.


There was an expedition to Toby and Mary Anna Marten at Crichel, which they are restoring foot by foot, a vast Adam/Wyatt-type neoclassical house with stucco work by Biagio Rebecca. They had a tame estate carpenter who I must say was a whizz at faux. There we all sat, lamenting the fate of John Profumo. It was said that on the night he was forced to go down to the House he was drugged on sleeping tablets and gave himself away.




Before I left for London Cecil, chortling a line or two of ‘We’ll gather lilacs’, took his secateurs and strolled round the garden, piling my arms high with huge branches of lilac. I sat in the train engulfed in its fragrance, a happy man. I had glimpsed another world and had drunk deeply of its delights.


6 JUNE


A revolution at the Portrait Gallery


This was the annual meeting of the Trustees and I got them to agree to purchase portraits of the LIVING, an astounding change. Will it help? One hopes that it will. They bought the monstrous but compelling Ulbricht of Mountbatten.


18 JUNE


A visit to Duncan Grant at Charleston


Duncan Grant picked me up in his decrepit Morris Minor from Lewes station. One has to admit that he’s a rather astounding 83-year-old, with his soft blue eyes, which now and then water a little, and untidy hair which must once have been fair. He must have been rather beautiful, I thought, in his day. In appearance he was untidy, wearing a navy-and-white striped T-shirt, a check sports coat, old brown trousers and canvas shoes. There was a slightly feminine quality to his manner but he was a gentle soul with a great twinkle in his eyes and an innate sense of fun and humour. And he drove the car remarkably well for an octogenarian. All the time I thought that through this man I have contact with, amongst others,



Odilon Redon and Jacques-Emile Blanche, as well as Wilde’s darling ‘Bosie’.


The house, adjacent to a farmyard, is entrancing, with a lake in front of it jammed full of pond irises and its façade festooned with climbers. What struck me most was the way it was the quintessence of a period. All the colours, for example, were not harsh but broken and transparent: lemon, white, black, brown and green. A huge vase of ragged pink blooms was placed on top of a chest of drawers looking exactly like a Duncan Grant/Vanessa Bell still life. The dining room had a well-worn round table decorated with spots typical of the Omega Workshop, lines and rounded shapes in black, white and lemon. There we had a simple lunch off their own pottery. Everything was all of a piece. I then took in all the pictures: Vanessa Bell, Roger Fry, Keith Baynes, Augustus John, Matthew Smith, copies of a Vlaminck, a Gainsborough and ones by Duncan himself.


There was a marvellous flint-walled garden full of crab-apple trees, Canterbury bells and giant poppies (which, he said, he loved). We then went through the portraits in his studio. There were not many. There were some of Vanessa (whose studio above enjoyed a sweeping view of the Downs and was stacked with canvases) and a number of interesting self-portraits. There was one in particular by Duncan, dated 1910, nude and wearing a turban. This he was about to sell. The later ones were far less good, although those in which he wore a hat were rather fascinating. But it was the early, rather academic ones, two of them, which most caught my eye and I angled after one of them for the NPG. Nearby there was a pottery studio where he and Quentin Bell made pots, very nice ones, and where Duncan Grant was doing sculpture for the first time.


All the walls, fireplaces and furniture in the house were covered with painted decoration. Charleston really ought to be preserved as a totally unique environment, impossible in a way to pass on [Charleston has since been restored and preserved, is now managed



by the Charleston Trust and opens to the public]. I remember most how lunch had been laid, a perfect Grant/Bell still life with its loaf and coarse, roughly glazed pottery patterned with bold lines in blue, red, green and yellow.


2 JULY


A new set of rooms at the Gallery


The day of the opening of a new set of rooms covering the Regency through to the Victorian periods. And what a rampage it was! No adult was admitted without a child in tow. The result was mobs of children milling around having lemonade and biscuits in the Tudor Gallery. There was a welcome by me, followed by no less than four lecturers and then the arrival of Jennie Lee, who delivered a harangue. This was a no-nonsense Scottish girl with white, wispy lacquered hair. After her came readings by John Westbrook and Jill Balcon. Afterwards a dinner was given at the Charing Cross Hotel for the Minister, Lloyd Kenyon, Helen Gardner, and Richard and Leonie Ormond.


20 JULY


To Jan van Dorsten


Wonderful rest in appallingly hot Vermont . . . Ten days here with their Elizabethan Institute. Ten one-hour lectures and five one-hour cross-examination sessions. Ten lectures have proved a heavy load and I don’t think that I would do so many again, but when they wrote in January I needed the money badly. Still do, as it will pay for



my library table and any back income tax. Very hot, 103 degrees one day and very humid . . . generous hospitality but in-between times I stay in my sordid little room in the dorm reading Bleak House and sleeping. Got up at 2 p.m. today and still feel languorous.


This ought to have done me some good as the previous weeks in London were ones of fantastic exertion centring on the two great galas. Needless to say, yours truly ended up doing most things. Gala 1: the Minister for the Arts, Miss Lee [Jennie Lee], came to open the newly decorated suite of rooms (which I long to show you. They are rather good). I had a children’s party for the occasion. No adult was admitted without a child. The Chairman and I received them at the entrance with a little boy aged seven announcing them. They were then given a huge tea in the Tudor Room, little lecture tours and a dramatic reading. And we dined Miss Lee after – valuable – the whole a ploy to get her into the Gallery and I knew she loved children. I pinioned her on the fact that we would have to close one day a week if the economy measures went through. I await the result. I was impressed by her, although she is a bit clogged up with vieux jeux socialism.


Gala 2: The day before I flew here, Joan Sutherland sang in Messiah at long last and saved the picture of Handel. What work and what worry. A rail strike hit the sale of tickets so some areas were ‘papered’ . . . And then there was all the fuss of Princess Alexandra coming: the decoration of the Royal Box, the correct seating of people in it, the exact timing of everything, the number of bars of the national anthem which she was allowed to have, who could come in for drinks in the interval, etc. At any rate it was all a great triumph, the Princess adorable, everyone in the box a-glitter with gems and me cavorting around in a black velvet Regency jacket.


So I think that event rounded off year one as Director. Oh, I forgot, on top of all that we saved the only known portrait of



Catherine Parr for the nation – more in-fighting. I have reason to be pleased and reason also to be tired.


28 SEPTEMBER


A weekend at Clandeboye


A weekend at Clandeboye, the Dufferin house in Ireland, with a guest list that included Patrick Plunket, Lizzie Spender (Stephen’s daughter), Chrissie Gibbs and a couple of other girls. Clandeboye is a shrine to the 1st Marquess, Governor-General of Canada and Viceroy of India amongst other things, the entrance hall festooned with colonial weapons and trophies and old photograph albums recording the heyday of the Raj. But the house was devoid of any good paintings.


On the Saturday everyone rose at six to shoot, something I’d never done before. So I was given a gun and rowed out to an island by a gamekeeper and left to pot away, which, oddly enough, I enjoyed. The food was marvellous. There were lots of silly games in the evening and, on Sunday, feudal church-going. I spent my time painting watercolours of the house. In the evening Chrissie Gibbs appeared dressed in a kaftan festooned with shells. Lindy told me that she was the first marchioness to penetrate the kitchens. They are redoing the house rather splendidly, which it certainly needs.


7 OCTOBER


The third night of Hair


I went with Michael Borrie to the third night of Hair. It was already a year old and very Greenwich Village, flower power and hippy, but



at the same time, fresh, passionate, beautiful and original, with a brilliant score and lyrics, though deafening and brassy. The nude scene and the lavish use of four-letter words were innocuous, as was the great love-in at the end, when the audience joined the performers to dance together on stage. It seemed to owe a lot to the work of Joan Littlewood.


16 OCTOBER


Tom Stoppard’s new play and a Dufferin fête


I took Astrid Zydower to the National Theatre to see a terrible play by Tom Stoppard called Rosencrantz and Guildenstern Are Dead, a bad play with bad sets, lighting and acting [how wrong can one be!]. Astrid was busy doing a portrait of Lord Mountbatten. Afterwards we went on to the Dufferins for supper and a post-dinner gathering: Chrissie Gibbs (in trousers), John Pope-Hennessy, Mario Amaya, Hugh Reay, Robert Hughes and wife, David Hockney, Paul and Ingrid Channon, John Cornforth, etc. Sheridan’s mother, Maureen Dufferin, arrived later in pleated chiffon, her face 1945 but wrinkled.


17 OCTOBER


The Van Dyck of Henrietta Maria


This major picture was probably the one sent by the Queen to Cardinal Barberini in Rome to thank him for his part in arranging the carving of the King’s bust by Bernini. The negotiations for its sale were in the hands of Roderic Thesiger of Colnaghi’s.




I heard personally by letter from Jennie Lee about our request for £150,000 to buy the Van Dyck of Henrietta Maria. I was impressed by the efforts of the Arts Office and heard that she had personally approached the Chancellor of the Exchequer. After frantic discussions it was clear that the only way to save the picture was to leak information to The Times, which I did through Roger Berthoud. I felt terrible after having done it, but it meant that there would then be the possibility of someone coming forward with the money and also the possibility that another gallery like the Tate could buy it. Thesiger is a sinister character. What a ghastly day. I felt like death and crawled off to be comforted by Michael [Borrie].


18 OCTOBER


The news breaks


The news broke in The Times. Thesiger of course was convulsed with rage and swore that the leak came from the museum world. I was incommunicado. What a day! I went to see Hugh Leggatt, who said at once that I had done the right thing in the circumstances. The Tate rang saying that they wanted the picture and that Norman Reid had gone to negotiate, having or knowing that he could get the money. Thesiger promptly put the price up to £200,000 and refused to deal. The result has been the utter failure to save the picture. But in the eyes of the Tate and us, Thesiger was ruined. I cannot understand the double-dealing. He said that it had not been offered elsewhere but Jean Boggs told me that she had been offered it and was given fourteen days to raise the money or else it would go elsewhere. This has been a sordid, nasty business which I don’t wish to see repeated.




19 OCTOBER


Robots at the ICA


No Van Dyck developments, thank heaven. I went to the weird ICA show Cybernetic Serendipity, where strange robots roamed around and sculptures one clapped at responded.


21 OCTOBER


Dinner at Campden Hill Square


Antonia [Fraser] was in folk dress à la polonaise at a shot with a skirt guarded with braids and a bolero but she looked fair, fresh and pretty. She’s a born hostess and I sat next to Violet Wyndham, whose profile resembled that of a benevolent vulture and who wore a wig. Attired in a brightly coloured kaftan and sporting a large amount of jewellery, she was, I later learned, the daughter of Ada Leverson, Oscar Wilde’s beloved ‘Sphinx’. For years Violet used to tell people she could remember Wilde because she had sat on his knee as a child, but with advancing years that story was dropped. But tonight she regaled me with stories of the novelist Louise de Vilmorin staying with Diana Cooper while she was having her face lifted in the hope of marrying Monsieur Malraux and of the shock that a guest to dinner had at finding her with her face still pinned at the perimeters. There was Auberon Waugh, a plumpish, softened version of his father, and George Weidenfeld, fat really but very very clever and whose beady eyes miss nothing. After dinner we all careered off to Hugh Thomas’s birthday party in Ladbroke Grove, where there were Noel Annan, the Gatacres and Ben Nicolson.




Costume, Byron and Doris Langley Moore





Doris Langley Moore entered my life in connection with the establishment of the Costume Society, of which I was an early chairman, the stress being on the word ‘man’, for my task was to keep the female scholars of the history of dress from tearing each other limb from limb. Doris was a remarkable woman, the founder of the Costume (now Fashion) Museum in Bath and a passionate Byron scholar. Indeed, I recall an astonishing lecture she gave at the Victoria and Albert Museum on the occasion of the Byron exhibition in 1974. It began with her in South Africa (where she had been born and convent-educated) going to her first dance where a man tried to kiss her. Drawing back, she asked him, ‘Have you read Childe Harold?’ From there on she never looked back, eventually writing a book on Byron’s marriage in a house in Portland Place, where Lady Byron had lived, although not at that number. Only after she had finished her text did she discover that the house had been renumbered and that she had been writing in the room in which many of the events she described had actually taken place.


Doris, like me, was a great believer in trivia as being revealing, saying that Byron’s laundry bills alone painted the man. She lectured once at the Portrait Gallery on his dress (she had discovered the famous Albanian costume), where, as her coup de théâtre, she swung open the lid of the Victorian lectern and held up one of the poet’s shirts, which she had whizzed in the washing machine the previous evening.


Large of feature and definite of tongue, with the manner of a latter-day Lady Catherine de Bourgh, she was in her era advanced in terms of emancipation, telling me once that she had written the first novel that actually took the reader through the bedroom door. Doris had total recall and I tried to persuade her to write her memoirs. I remember her telling me of an encounter with E.M. Forster when he kept on wanting her to go and see his collection of ladies’ hatpins. Fearing the worst, she



declined, at that time blissfully unaware of what a homosexual was.


The Corporation of Bath, to whom she eventually gave her collection, was the bane of her life. I gave her the best suit I ever had made, in about 1970, by Blades at the top of Savile Row. It was blue, double-breasted with six buttons, tightly waisted and with side vents seemingly to the armpits, very narrow sleeves and straight-cut trousers, just pre-flares coming in. With them went a black fedora hat from Herbert Johnson, a pair of glasses, a shirt and tie from Turnbull & Asser in raspberry ripple stripes and a pair of black shoes. I recall my mother visiting the museum and turning a corner to be confronted by her son staring at her from a glass showcase.


24 OCTOBER





I must be one of the few people to get on with Doris. I’ve never really had any difficulty with her but I’m not sure that I’d like to work for her. Today she was in purple, except for her gloves, which were grey, and she was very conscious of the fact. That she lamented, recalling that no woman before 1945 would ever appear in London without wearing a hat. Somehow it was back to face-lifting again, this time its early days when the surgeons could only do half at a time. A friend had called on Marie Tempest at the halfway stage, to be confronted with the mask of comedy and tragedy. But the real point of the lunch was for me to sign her passport photograph as a true likeness. Extraordinary what vanity does to people, but I cheerfully scribbled my signature on the reverse of photographs seemingly taken through a gauze screen.


Doris is a great barometer of changes in social mores. ‘I was Philip Hendy’s mistress’, she suddenly announced. ‘Now it can be said’, reflecting the movement of the times. She now hated him and I wondered what had happened. Doris is South African, which she



tends to conceal, and started her life married to a doctor in Harrogate before he ran off with the nanny. I really wish she would write her autobiography. Every time we meet some other weird crumb falls my way. This time it was the problem of getting Fred Ashton out of the RAF during the war. The only way was to devise the scenario for a patriotic ballet, which she did: The Quest, based on Spenser’s Faerie Queene. Not Fred’s best, I gather, but the décor by John Piper must have been striking. I remember it being reproduced in a King Penguin, English Ballet, which came my way when I was in my teens.





Beaton Portraits: 1928–65


This exhibition dominated my thoughts all through the year, and I have put all the entries connected with it into one sequence.


29 FEBRUARY





Trustees’ Meeting day. There was a mind-boggling confrontation between Lloyd Kenyon, Cecil Beaton and Dicky Buckle. I don’t think that Lloyd knew quite what had hit him. There stood the model of the exhibition, with ‘walls’ which in fact floated, stylised William Kent mirrors with tin-foil glass, on to one of which had been glued a picture of Greta Garbo. I waited to see what would happen but Cecil flattened Lloyd.


That evening there was a Trustees’ dinner at the Chairman’s club, the Cavalry, a faded, rather shabby institution in shades of unutterable green. The evening began badly with Miss Lee cancelling at the last minute, which made us all furious. Gerald Templer told Richard Ormond and me to get our hair cut! I was seated between Cecil



and Elizabeth Longford. Elizabeth said, ‘Cecil, I thought you were a “Sir”.’ ‘No, only in Paris’, he replied. ‘I was paged in a hotel “Sœur Cecile, Sœur Cecile”, and kept on thinking, who the hell is this nun, and then I realised it was me that they wanted.’


17 OCTOBER





Cecil described to me how he had achieved a new portrait of the Queen posing in a plain black cloak. He said that he was very pleased with the results and that the Queen had been in a very giggly mood. He remarked how plain she looked but, after a little retouching, the photographs were fine.


25 OCTOBER





Cecil flew in to see progress on the exhibition after having been to Princess Marina’s memorial service. He was exquisitely dressed in a six-button double-breasted morning suit with a huge black hat and kid gloves. He was thrilled with it. I took him to lunch at the Ivy, to which he said he hadn’t been since the 1930s.


29 OCTOBER





The Beaton exhibition really looks marvellous. He was in it photographing Dicky [Buckle] in a black silk blouse festooned with necklaces of sharks’ teeth. He insisted that I join the group.




29 OCTOBER





To Jan van Dorsten


And now one is on the eve of the great Beaton show and the whole of London agog for it. It is marvellous and I long to show it to you. No one will ever be able to do a photographic exhibition again in the same way. The programme is like a play: Act I: A drawing-room pre-war with a great frieze of beauties, the Queen Mother seen in the distance through a Venetian window flitting across sunlit lawns, Beaton himself looking out of a tin-foil mirror as the ‘Observer’, Thirties popular music playing. Interlude: The war, a corridor of sailors, bomber pilots, etc., hung like banners; a bombed-out room; and the vista closed with St Paul’s arising from smoking ruins. Prelude to Act II: The Coronation. Act II: A studio today, a huge studio stove, vast Beaton hat, postcard stand ten feet high with twenty photos of Marilyn Monroe on it slowly revolving, a model theatre with projections, great racks of portraits, a new one of the Queen on an easel (to be released on the day of the opening), Elizabethan music playing and, as one leaves, Beaton today taking one’s photo with a flash-lamp bursting every few minutes. Incense burning in the last room and a lot of psychedelic light. It ought to cause a furore!


30 OCTOBER





Vogue’s launching party. I think that this must have been the most dazzling assemblage I’d ever been in. Noël Coward, with coarsened features and looking very decayed, arrived with Gladys Calthrop on his arm. The photographer David Bailey appeared ashen in velvet rags



with Penelope Tree, sporting a long black skirt to match her equally long black lanky hair. She wore an Indian bandeau and her eyes were painted around with alternate green and black lines. The painter Patrick Procktor gangled in, seemingly eight foot high in elegant velvet undress. Lindy Dufferin wore a dark crimson suit, Evangeline Bruce in black; Lee Radziwill stunning in Courrèges black and white, Diana Cooper in turquoise. The beau monde floated by like the waves of the sea: Peter Coats, Frederick Ashton, Lord Harlech, the Channons, Stephen Spender, Lady Rosse, Mrs Ian Fleming, the Tynans, Mick Jagger, Pamela Colin, the Weidenfelds, Jocelyn and Jane Stevens, the Glendevons, and David Hockney with a beautiful blond Jewish boy. I find it difficult to write about today. It was so terrific, so glamorous. And I loved every minute of it.


31 OCTOBER





I was exhausted but exulted. This was the day of the royal launching and our own private view. It began well, with over thirty reporters at the press view, an unheard-of record for us. The Queen Mother arrived ten minutes late at 6.40 p.m. with Lady Jean Rankin and Captain Aird in attendance. I recognised the favourite pink ostrich-feather hat. Although this was billed as a private visit, the cameras of the press flashed as she arrived to be greeted by Cecil, who took her round. For her it was full of nostalgia but what was so striking was her fascination not with things gone but with the present. After the tour of the exhibition she went to the boardroom, which had been transformed with flowers and spots. She was sweet to all the Trustees and, as she left, she was presented with a bound copy of Beaton Portraits. Then it was back to the private view that followed and the evening wound up with a dinner in my office for Cecil, the Kenyons, the Longfords and Dicky. Dicky very sweetly presented



me with a pretty cup and saucer but I fear that the dinner was a bit staid.





Beaton gives a far fuller account of this opening in his diary, including that I had said as we waited under the awning for the Queen Mother, ‘Oh, the excitement! I think that this is the most thrilling thing that has ever happened to me!’ Up until then, it was.


22 OCTOBER


Deirdre Hart-Davies and Leonard Woolf


I went down to Lewes to lecture on portraits of poets and stayed with Anthony and Deirdre Bland at Sutton House, Iford. There was a dinner party to which Leonard Woolf came, now aged eighty-six but still active and with perfect sight, his face narrow and furrowed, eyes small, wearing tweeds which hung on him. Deirdre reminisced about the 1930s, how Lord Berners used to refer to Emerald Cunard as ‘a canary of prey’, and also produced a wonderful drawing by Cecil Beaton of girls posing for him, with the cook holding a light bulb.


3 NOVEMBER





The most amazing article on me by Quentin Crewe in the Sunday Mirror, in which I was billed as ‘The man who is giving history a facelift’ and putting Trad and Mary Hopkin (No. 1 in the pop charts) into the NPG. One hopes that one can fulfil what the piece said: the man of the future who cares for the past. It does make one hanker for the British Museum, Tate, etc. Is that too awful of me?



I hope not. One must recognise one’s limitations but I do seem to have a talent for getting things moving . . .


19 NOVEMBER


To Jan van Dorsten


The Beaton opening came and went . . . 16,000 through in fourteen days. I have suddenly found myself shot into the limelight as a kind of messiah of the London museums. Very dangerous, this pop idol stuff. I was celebrity of the week on Woman’s Hour (whatever does that bode?), a whole page in the Sunday Mirror, a long profile in the Guardian, etc. I wonder where it will all lead? I do seem to get rather involved with smart people these days. Difficult but interesting. I shall obviously be the museum monster of all time by the time I’m forty!!


27 NOVEMBER


Judy Gendel


I felt really exhausted and slept most of the day. In the evening there was dinner with Lloyd, who really is so conventional that he’s becoming a bore. I didn’t dare reveal that after I’d escaped from him I was pounding off to a new venue, 84 Maida Vale. Milton and Judy Gendel had only recently entered my life. I’d met her first, being placed next to her at Antonia Fraser’s. In a way she’s almost hideous to look at, her face heavily lined and masked by perfectly enormous spectacles. Tonight she was wearing a disastrously lurid kaftan. Whatever virtues she had, dress sense was not one of them, but she



was intelligent and a delight to talk to, with her deep, hoarse voice. She sets the pace and Milton just seems to be there, a permanently smiling American.


Her taste in clothes was reflected in the interior decoration. It could only be described as anti-décor, a Victorian house gutted and filled with a mixture of modern furniture and junk, items like a chesterfield upholstered in black shiny leather and a table painted bright purple. But here was gathered the scene I was becoming increasingly familiar with, the same people transposed to another location, among them Diana Cooper, the Gatacres, Stephen Spender, John Craxton, Julian Jebb, not to mention a sprinkling of dim-witted debby girls with blanched faces and kohled eyelashes. Elfin-like Julian Jebb, in a black velvet frock coat and frills, was always so funny, so witty, so amusing and, I felt, such a bloody bore.


30 NOVEMBER


Christabel, Lady Aberconway


I was bidden to lunch by Brinsley Ford to that treasure house, 14 Wyndham Place. Joanna Ford was ill so it turned out to be à trois with Christabel, Lady Aberconway. And what enchantment that proved to be. For one thing she knew how to make an entry to effect, even though she’s short in stature, arriving with one hand engulfed in a vast fur muff and the other resting on the gold and onyx handle of her walking-stick. I’m not sure that she was ever beautiful but certainly vivacious, her face a pale oval lit by a pair of sparkling grey-blue eyes. Her white hair was in marcel waves secured by combs. The absence of Joanna must have pleased her, for she had two men all to herself.




‘Here I am at seventy-eight’, she began, ‘still in love with life, every minute of it. The only thing I dread is eternity.’ What about reincarnation? Yes, she’d like that. ‘But, Christabel’, Brinsley interrupted, ‘you might be a char.’ ‘Yes, but I’d be your char and think how interesting that would be.’ Her speech was accompanied from time to time by girlish giggles, particularly when she was a little risqué, which was most of the time. This is a lady who loves a tipple and she cheerfully nosed her way through two large gin and Dubonnets. ‘Not much Dubonnet’, was the instruction, ‘but I do not mean that comment to apply to the other ingredient.’


Over lunch she held forth on Douglas Cooper. Whenever she saw him she loved him. Whenever he wasn’t there she disliked him. His new friend was Michael Fish, who must give him ‘a little love’, and from there her thoughts ranged on to stories about Lord Spencer and the Duke of Wellington.


Afterwards she took us back to her house in North Audley Street, a monument to Thirties neoclassical romance. There was an oval staircase, quite small really, but with urns carved in false perspective in niches on the ascent, a Rex Whistleresque apparition. Shortly after, one was to learn just how heavily his ghost hung around the place. She used as her drawing-room a garden room that ran the length of the back of the house and opened on to a small, pretty paved garden with trees, statuary and a pond with a fountain. The garden room was dominated by a handsome William Kent fireplace over which hung an entrancing Renoir of a nanny with two little children looking at ships from a riverbank. At either end of the room there was a niche containing an urn designed by Rex Whistler. Around one processed all the Samuels – Pepys, Richardson, the Prophet, Rogers, not to mention Courtauld – around the other danced the Muses, all nine, according to Brinsley, being Christabel.


She had turned the room into her drawing room because she



loved it so much, although, she confessed, she felt naughty for having done so. Rex’s designs for the urns were there, as indeed was much else. A huge scrapbook was opened, filled with photographs and letters decorated in his inimitable manner, describing work at Plas Newydd and for the Sassoons and others. There was a book of his of which only three copies were ever printed, number one for Christabel, number two for Sam Courtauld and the third for the writer Osbert Sitwell. What visions this evoked of a world now gone: pretty pictures of shells (including our hostess as one) and Winterhalter ladies gliding through woods. On one of the walls hung Rex’s drawing of Osbert, a crisp medallic profile, destined for the NPG.


And then came a great surprise. We were taken upstairs in a little lift, something Brinsley had never achieved. Stepping out, the walls were banked with photographs of her family, whom she loved, and also of cats, which she also loved. Then came her bathroom, half an oval made whole by a wall of mirror glass. This, she announced, was a bathroom for Venuses. It was good to see oneself. It reminded you to eat less. Finally came her bedroom, decorated with chinoiserie wallpaper. Next to the bed there was a pair of shutters resembling a hatch. I asked her what it was. She replied that behind the doors was a portrait of someone who was now dead. I dared not ask who, perhaps the beloved Sam? She preferred, she said, not to open it. From this room another door led to a winding staircase: ‘For lovers’, she said with a sigh, ‘but no more’.


So we began to make our descent, first to her own sitting-room, where, over her desk, there was a wonderful Picasso of a little girl clasping a bird and, nearby, a Sickert of a group on a beach, very small and bright with an inscription on the reverse. And so to the ground floor and the dining room. Another breathtaking Renoir over the fireplace but the best one of all on the wall opposite, indeed the finest picture in the house, in which a distant figure moves almost



waist-deep through a haze of blooming grasses. To its right there was a Cézanne of a wood. This for her was A Midsummer Night’s Dream and she began to point out where each character made its entrance and exit. The Seurat sketches on cigar boxes seemed almost an anticlimax. What a day. I hope that I meet her again.











1969


Looking through the events of this year, I seemed to be heading either towards an early apotheosis or being a rather sad essay in pride before the fall. It appeared that I could do nothing wrong. Everything I touched took off and was acclaimed. Dangerous stuff, but for a heady year I floated along on a cloud. The year opened with the extension of the Beaton exhibition no less than twice (it went on to New York). London at weekends became accustomed to the extraordinary sight of queues stretching around the Gallery into Trafalgar Square. ‘It’s done something terrific for us’, I wrote, ‘it’s associated the Portrait Gallery with the land of the living instead of being an artistic morgue.’ Attendance figures shot up. The place was on the map and, copying a notorious V&A publication, I introduced a pamphlet entitled Six Famous Portraits in Fifteen Minutes to hook the casual first-time visitor. Moves were made now towards film: ‘. . . portraiture isn’t exclusively to do with painting. Our business is with the living image. We should be making films. We should have our own cinema. People today like historical fact. They don’t want fiction.’ All that year the work of the Gallery went on, cleaning and restoring pictures, putting in order the archive, redecorating the galleries. The NPG never looked back. What leaves me proudest is



that never once did I ever sense any disloyalty. There was no hint of any resentment from the staff as their Director strode the public and social stage. For them I was the revived Gallery incarnate. My success was their success.


So the media never left me during 1969, but I had already begun to realise that such coverage had its dangers. By November the Daily Mail did ‘a day in my life’ as Britain’s most unlikely Civil Servant and I was photographed standing beneath the statue of Henry Irving at the bottom of Charing Cross Road, looking like a demented suffragette in a huge fedora hat and coat to my ankles. I was, it seems, ‘a startlingly mod figure’, but then this was after all the apogee of the Swinging Sixties, the heyday of the King’s Road and of the Beatles. I recall saying to Beatrix Miller, then editor of Vogue, ‘I’m not going to give another interview’, to which came the reply: ‘Darling, that’s great. That means you’ll survive.’ And I did, but it was a lesson to be learned and at times one teetered perilously near the edge.


Looking back, it must sometimes have been quite difficult for the Trustees to stomach but the wind was taken clean out of their sails as it was all so very successful. But I sensed the frost. It was difficult to cut down to size a Director who could spot a major portrait of Anne of Denmark in the saleroom unrecognised, and buy it for £700, which we did in the Craven sale in January. Let alone one who could raise the overall grant for the Gallery from Government so substantially in his first two years. There is no trace of that hard bargaining in what I wrote in my diary, for I continued my path of recording essentially, but not always, a panorama of social life.


The diary reads as though that life was an endless party, which in a way it was. But even my records of those are patchy. One of the most remarkable was given for George Weidenfeld’s fiftieth birthday. The invitation card read ‘exotic dress’. That was misread by one recipient as ‘erotic dress’ and promptly thrust into the wastepaper basket. I went as Aubrey Beardsley’s idea of the Regency in black



velvet and silver spangles swagged in purple sashes and carrying a huge fur muff.


In spite of what seems one long tide of frivolity, all I had intellectually striven to achieve reached its culmination in the exhibition at the Tate, The Elizabethan Image, in November. That event coincided with the publication of both The English Icon: Elizabethan and Jacobean Portraiture and the two-volume catalogue of the Gallery’s early portraits, Tudor and Jacobean Portraits. In a sense, academically, my work there had already reached its logical end.


The exhibition was conceived from the outset to convert, to win over, beguile, dazzle and stun a public with the magic of an era of painting with which I had fallen in love as a teenager. I set my face against producing an academic tome as a catalogue, far better something inexpensive, manageable and seductive. The show, too, was to be a narrative spectacle on the grand scale, with sunshine and shade. Through the gloom of mid-Tudor iconoclasm, replete with the shattered images of saints, the visitor wended his way towards the shrine of Gloriana, in the midst of which stood a golden obelisk bearing her imagery, rainbows and spheres, sieves and crowned columns. Then, all of a sudden, as a coup de théâtre, there was a vast long gallery lined with flower-coloured full-lengths of worthies in gala costume, a phantasmagoria of bristling ruffs and farthingales, spangled shoe rosettes and jewel-besprinkled hair. Lute music hung in the air and the exhibition-goer found himself assailed by visions of tournament and revelry and, later, by the melancholy of the end of an age, young men shrouded in black with their arms criss-crossed, along with ladies enveloped in veils mysteriously half-smiling in the shadows. And then as a finale came a fanfare heralding the world of Inigo Jones, Rubens and Van Dyck. It was unashamedly romantic but also highly disciplined, in exhibition terms a realisation of Sir Philip Sidney’s phrase, ‘the riches of knowledge upon the stream of delight’.


This was an exhibition done from the heart with passion. Only



two critics carped, Denys Sutton and Terence Mullaly; the rest responded beyond even my wildest dreams. Bryan Robertson wrote that it was ‘the most revelatory spectacle of its kind I can recall seeing in London’, and John Russell joined him, saying ‘. . . what we see at the Tate is not so much installed as argued: set out complete with music and the written word, with many an artful twist and turn of the terrain. Against all expectations it has a headlong emotional drive.’ The year 1969 ended on an even greater high than 1968, if that were possible.


20 JANUARY


Duncan Grant’s eighty-fourth birthday party


Duncan Grant will be eighty-four tomorrow but today the Dufferins gave a fête in his honour. Lindy presided, dressed in a brown velvet trouser suit with silver buckles on her shoes, her hair curled as though she were a gangster’s moll. There was dinner for about thirty at four round tables in the ‘gallery room’, with Hockney’s Splash and a bloody Bacon on the walls. It was quite a gathering with Alexander Dunluce, Ossie Clark, Ron Kitaj, Pauline Vogelpoel, Cyril Connolly, David Hockney, Raymond Mortimer (very wrinkled and in a polo-neck) and Bryan Moyne. David Garnett, author of Lady into Fox, now seventy-eight, stood large, white-haired and solid. Patrick Procktor was, as always, languorously elegant, in grey with a blood-orange-red open-necked shirt and gaudy waistband. Also the publisher Hamish Hamilton and his Italian wife, she wearing black, trimmed with ostrich feathers.


I sat between Rhoda Birley and Quentin Bell with Fred Ashton and Peter Schlesinger, David Hockney’s new friend, and a beautiful girl whose name I never caught. I dropped a clanger with Fred,



saying how much I missed the old Messel Sleeping Beauty with things like the second-act hunting party, dancing and slashing away with their riding-crops, the peasants as though lifted from a Boucher intertwining with them, which he considered an awful bore. I didn’t twig that Lady Birley was Oswald’s widow until later in the evening. She is still strikingly beautiful, with the whitest of complexions, expressive eyes and a great deployment of bangles and jewels which sparkled. Peggy Ashcroft, dressed in black, told me she intended to leave her portrait by Sickert to the Gallery; but oh that voice!


29 JANUARY


A visit to David Hockney’s studio


At Lindy Dufferin’s party for Duncan Grant I’d chatted to David Hockney and suggested what a marvellous subject Fred Ashton would make for him. At the time Fred was perching on the arms of a sofa with his fingers exquisitely arranged – the only word for it – around a cigarette. From afar, en profile he looked like some exotic parakeet. David was clearly excited by the possibility. At the time he was drawing W.H. Auden, so I thought that I ought to go and look.


Number 17 Powis Terrace is one of those late-Victorian stucco terraces in Notting Hill Gate with a vast columned portico and every sign that gentility had long since fled. The houses were now tatty tenements and I climbed up what can only be described as a squalid staircase-well, to be met by David. Original is the only word one could ever apply to him, with his bleached blond hair and owl spectacles. But I couldn’t help loving him and admiring his quick logic and unique perception. He’s rather large and square, getting fat in fact, and somehow terribly conscious of it. The whole time I was there he kept on feeling beneath his shirt as though checking



up on the expansion of the wodges. We sat down in his kitchen together with his slim blond American boyfriend, Peter Schlesinger, and lunched off consommé, toast and pâté washed down with red wine. After it we went into the studio.


I don’t think that I’d ever before encountered anyone so overtly homosexual. Against one wall rested two blown-up photographs of Peter, one in bikini underpants, the other in jeans with his flies left undone. All over the floor were scattered magazines with male nudes. David picked one up and complained how it had been seized by the Customs and then returned. On its cover was stamped ‘Nudes – semi-erect’. He works from photographs but not when he draws people. He showed me some of Angus Wilson, one of which was very good, although he didn’t think so. He agreed to draw Fred Ashton for me, although I warned him about the Trustees. The phone rang. It was a Spanish waiter who wanted to come round and strip for him to draw. The time had come to leave.


Every surface was white. In the sitting-room stood a Mackintosh chair, a rococo sledge, a divan bed with some cushions scattered across it and some coloured cut-out trees like those in a child’s toy theatre. In the studio I noticed a frame containing a collage of newspaper cuttings of the Rolling Stones. Both David and Peter live for the opera and ballet and, oh, David said, how he longed to draw the pretty boys in the ballet school. Perhaps, I thought, Fred might pave the way.


7 FEBRUARY


A reflection


After a long dinner with Anthony Powell we sat and talked over Lindy Dufferin, who was obviously fascinated by feminine men, herself not being a feminine person. She is very close to Irene Worth



and also someone whose life is frenetic to cover up what she realises, alas too late, about the true nature of her own emotions. So she’s Garbo-like – or also like Lady Birley. So many are driven on to fill their lives with other things because of their own emotional difficulties. Like myself, I suppose.


Today I decided to start a course of exercise with Miss Jean Stewart-Wallace, after which my back muscles ached.





Jean and what we can now designate her partner, Charlotte Gaffran, looked after a motley crew from the professional world that included Cecil Beaton and Hardy Amies. I went to their studio in Notting Hill for almost twenty years. Charlotte said in her Germanic English, ‘I make your back very strong’. She was right. She did. I have never had any trouble with it since.


9–16 FEBRUARY


Moroccan interlude


‘We must have a painting expedition!’ yelled Lindy Dufferin. That was several months ago, when I had taken my painting things to Clandeboye and done a rather wishy-washy watercolour of the house. Notionally we agreed on February but would this dotty idea ever actually happen? I doubted it and then, all of a sudden, we were off to Morocco. There were three of us: myself, Lindy, buoyant and pop-eyed as ever, as though in a permanent state of amazement at everything and everybody, and her ‘newly discovered’ cousin, Bryan Moyne. Now he was a bonus, a tranquil, tolerant, lovable person, although he was so soft-spoken that I only ever could catch half what he said. At the airport he presented each of us with a notebook because notebooks would definitely be needed.




We stayed a night in Rabat, which had few delights, but we ambled through the old town, the medina, with its narrow medieval streets lined with booths in which the vendors stood or crouched, their goods spread before them. But, oh what colour! Cinnamon, black pepper, turmeric, the spices in their huge sacks ravished the eye.


On the Monday we went by bus to Fez via Meknès. The coastal scenery was dull and then suddenly we climbed up into the hills, which were verdant, the almond groves in full bloom. Everywhere one looked there were orange trees, hard-pruned vines, cactus hedges and woods of eucalyptus with the soft haze of mountains in the distance. The Palais Jamai at Fez lived up to its name. It had indeed been a palace and our rooms looked out on to a courtyard full of palm trees, brightly coloured nasturtiums and flowering shrubs. That was what I would paint, I decided.


One day our very smart guide took us around the medina: just as well, as we would never have come out of it on our own. Up hill and down dale we trundled through this partly roofed maze along cobbled and muddy streets, pushing past donkeys with huge panniers slung across them, making our way through one district after another, metalworkers hammering away like blazes, vat-dyers the colour of their own dyes, an area for textiles and kaftans and another which I wish I had missed, an abattoir with its end product, skins for leather.


Our only introduction was to Angelica Garnett. Very Bloomsbury, as indeed was the whole scene that greeted us. Angelica was separated from her husband and was here for four months, alone in a capacious one-room studio whose facilities could only be described as basic. Here she was painting away like a mad thing, producing abstracts of local scenes of no great moment but her drawings showed that she had real talent. Poor thing, she had a lovely face but it was crow’s-footed and careworn. She was tired and desiccated and for most of the time she subjected us to lengthy lectures on local vice and unreliability.







Julia Trevelyan Oman first entered my life when her father, Charles Oman, Keeper of Metalwork at the Victoria and Albert Museum, gave her a small engraving of Elizabeth I. Wishing to know more about it, he had directed her to ‘young Strong’ at the National Portrait Gallery. That happened shortly after the phenomenal success of her ballet, The Enigma Variations, choreographed by Sir Frederick Ashton in 1968. Later I recall asking Julia what had been her first impression of me. She said it was of my back view disappearing down the Kafkaesque corridor at the Portrait Gallery with one leg dragging slightly behind. Looking at that lonely figure receding into the distance, she thought: He needs looking after. She was right and in the end she did. My only regret is that I took so long to propose to her.


25 FEBRUARY


The First Night of Aubrey’s Brief Lives


I had been sent seats by the designer Julia Trevelyan Oman. I took Hermione Waterfield and we sat in the third row with Fred Ashton, who had a glamorous boy in tow next to us. In front there was John Betjeman and alongside him the actor Richard Johnson, Princess Margaret and Tony Snowdon. From afar I glimpsed Cecil Beaton. The ladies wore acres of false hair.


Julia’s set was really a Victorian vision of the seventeenth century, an amazing clutter-bespattered lodging dominated by a huge four-poster surrounded by a dust- and cobweb-laden phantasmagoria of dried flowers, old furs, stuffed animals, pictures, carved fragments, tassels, pieces of armour, pewter plates filled with spices and nuts, bottles and jars. In the interval, members of the audience ambled down to the stage just to look in greater detail at the huge pile of props. Roy Dotrice’s performance was a tour de force with its touching evocation of the England of Gloriana before the



terrible Civil Wars, and how everything since had been just plain awful.


4 MARCH


The première of Isadora


The invitation bade those who came to wear ‘gems and flowers’. I couldn’t think what to do but my barber persuaded me to go wearing a false moustache, which looked very fetching but kept falling off. The film, directed by Karel Reisz, turned out to be pretty feeble but there was a great party afterwards at the Coliseum. The only drama of the evening occurred when the star of the film, Vanessa Redgrave, in a scarlet and gold sari, her hair encircled with flowers, fainted. Mark Lancaster and David Hockney, in green, both appeared wearing garlands of flowers and Patrick Procktor wore a bouquet of enamelled ones in his lapel.





Two artists wanted to take my likeness, one was a painter called Guy Roddon, the other my old friend Angela Conner, who wanted to sculpt a head. As the Director of the NPG it seemed sensible to experience what the Gallery presented on its walls.


7 MARCH


I sit for ‘Portrait No. 1’


This was a thrilling day as I sat for ‘Portrait No. 1’, as I referred to it, by Guy Roddon, who lived in what used to be both Augustus John’s and Norman Hepple’s studio in Tite Street. I sat on the ‘throne’ with



my legs crossed and holding my enormous hat and gloves. Guy was nothing if not colourful, very sexy to women and admitting a complex love life. Having let me arrange myself, he flew at the canvas for two hours like someone possessed, at the same time chain-smoking and swigging huge quantities of whisky and claret. The result was stunning. It was without any doubt me. David Mlinaric, who sat for Guy in the afternoon and whom I had never met, saw it and instantly recognised me.


It was an exciting experience in which the sitter as it were ‘assists’ the artist in achieving a picture. He plans to get it into this year’s Royal Academy Summer Exhibition [he didn’t]. I think that I do possess a will to look in a certain kind of way and I loved sitting, admittedly numbed by it but also excited to watch the ‘creation’. Guy took me to lunch after at the Chelsea Arts Club, which was very 1920s and full of Fr de Zulueta, Sir Charles Wheeler, Bernard Hailstone, et al.


8 MARCH


I sit for ‘Portrait No. 2’


A second sitting for Guy and it is amazing how well one comes to know a painter in this situation. He was not so steamed up today, but oh what a good painting it promises to be, viewed within its context.


After lunch, on to ‘Portrait No. 2’, Angela Conner’s sculpture, which again was an exciting experience. Apparently, she told me, my head is all planes, so terrific to sculpt.





I have a cast of Angela’s head of me, which inevitably my late wife did not care for! But the late Duke of Devonshire became a great supporter



of Angela’s and another cast found a place at the bottom of a staircase at Chatsworth as, to my surprise, it was reported to me. It now sits in the grounds, along with several of her other portrait heads.


20 MARCH


The Antique Dealers’ Association’s Dinner


Dinner as a guest of the Antique Dealers at Stationers’ Hall, where I sat between the chairman of the National Westminster Bank and Peter Wilson of Sotheby’s, whom I like. I was bien placé, with John Pope-Hennessy and Francis Watson in striking distance while the Directors of the Maritime, London and Guildhall museums were placed afar. Two speeches were made, one awful by Lord Eccles appealing for a two million subsidy for the British Museum and the other marvellously witty by Chenevix-Trench, headmaster of Eton.


21 MARCH


Further sittings


Sat again for Angela and, following that, for the final time for Guy. I had arranged for the NPG’s official photographer, Godfrey Argent, to come and photograph me, and indeed the two of us as it were at it. The result was that we all got het up, engendering an atmosphere of frenzied excitement as Guy wielded the brush. Godfrey photographed me on my own, wearing my huge black hat and looking like an 1890s aesthete.




24 MARCH


Lady Antonia Fraser entertains the Enoch Powells


A great party given by Antonia Fraser for the Enoch Powells, with two tables with twenty or so sitting down to dinner. Who were they all? Lord Nelson of Stafford and wife; Fred Warner; a Belgian former RC priest Dominic de Gruun, handsome and in his forties; to my right, one of the Drabble girls, Antonia Byatt, a novelist and literary editor of Nova, hugely intelligent and mad about the Virgin Queen; to my left, the voluptuous Diana Phipps; Thomas Pakenham, tall, clever and wild-eyed; the young Winston Churchill, an outdoor, blond boy with lovely blue eyes but he was as hard as nails; Marguerite Littman from the deep South, etc. Enoch Powell, in whose honour this dinner was given, was a stunning man with a great intellect and eyes of a piercing purity, endowed with lucidity, wit and kindliness, but with rather a small wife in an ordinary dress. Indeed there was a touch of ordinariness about both of them but a degree removed from semi-detached types. The menu was haddock in a cream sauce, chicken pie with carrots, beans and potatoes, a strawberry soufflé, coffee and brandy. The ladies left the men when there followed a great economic discussion about the Common Market, over which Enoch Powell presided. The women were all either in mini skirts or trouser suits, with Antonia in a white suit spangled on the upper part.




1 APRIL


A Guildhall dinner


I went to my first Guildhall Dinner, although my connection with the President of Niger, in whose honour this was given, still mystifies me. In a way it was dreary to begin with but the actual dinner was rather marvellous. The President and the Lord Mayor and their wives stood at the head of a flight of steps with spots beaming down on them, the stairs lined with a guard in Cromwellian costume. The vast banquet hall was lit almost entirely by candlelight and I was dazzled by the silver, the candelabra, the flowers, the women in tiaras and the men hung with orders. The Mayor and his guest entered and left in procession heralded by fanfares from the state trumpeters. I sat next to a man in his mid-sixties who was Master of the Salters Company; opposite were a couple called Mayall, he, I gathered, was Vice-Marshal of the Diplomatic Corps. They had a house near Frome and therefore near Tony Powell.


7 APRIL


Beaton in Brighton


I went down to Brighton with Michael Borrie to spend the day with our old friends John and Valerie Kingman, she in great form and expecting a child. I popped in to Brighton Pavilion and saw Cecil Beaton working on On a Clear Day You Can See Forever. Canvas backcloths were stretched across the grounds to obscure the view of anything later in date. The music room was filled with the court of George IV slumped in heaps, resting. The food for the banquet



scene was filmed in the Pavilion kitchens but made the extras who ate it ill afterwards. George IV, I was told, kept splitting his breeches.


13 APRIL


Fr Gerard Irvine enters my life


I was asked to read the Epistle at Mass at St Matthew’s, Westminster. The vicar is Fr Gerard Irvine. I would like to know him better. Later I went to the film Oh! What a Lovely War, which had had rave reviews but was nothing like as good as the stage version.





Gerard was to become a great friend, and indeed was the man who officiated over my marriage to Julia Trevelyan Oman two years later.


15 MAY


Antonia Fraser’s biography of Mary, Queen of Scots is launched


In the evening there was a glittering soirée at George Weidenfeld’s house at Cleeve Lodge, Hyde Park Gate, to launch Antonia Fraser’s biography of Mary, Queen of Scots. Antonia looked very beautiful in pale grey and white. I gave her a watercolour by Henry Bland c.1840 of the Scottish queen’s bedroom in Holyroodhouse. I’d even covered the wrapping paper with sprays of greenery and her and the Queen’s initials. I was placed next to her at dinner, and how lovely she was, gay and entrancing. After dinner, at about 10 p.m., a vast mob descended: David Hicks, the Dufferins, Teresa Gatacre, Elizabeth Longford, Drue Heinz, the Knight of Glyn, Antonia Byatt, the Mostyn-Owens, Judy Gendel, Jonathan Aitken, the Rothchilds . . .




24–25 MAY


David Hockney draws Cecil Beaton


Cecil gives an account of this weekend in his diaries, which rightly concentrate on David producing drawings of him ‘looking like a bloated, squat, beefy businessman’, noting that ‘. . . poor Roy Strong did not seem to have much attention given to him, and he had recourse to doing watercolours in the conservatory.’ I still have that rather bad watercolour. David did a couple of quick profile sketches of me looking like a seedy Regency buck while we all sat watching television. I have one, which he gave me.


The other Cecil pasted in one of his scrapbooks and twenty years later I was able to reidentify myself for its purchaser. Much to my surprise, in a Hockney exhibition in the late 1980s, one of David’s photographic albums was open at a page where I saw myself sitting in the conservatory.





This was what Cecil had categorised as a quiet weekend. David Hockney was to draw his portrait, so he arrived along with Peter. Cecil is nothing if not vain so there was much coming and going with piles of hats from which David could make a choice for Cecil to wear. David’s early attempts didn’t go down at all well, hardly surprising, for his graphic style highlighted every wrinkle on Cecil’s face.


One afternoon, while David drew Cecil in the studio and I lolled on the grass behind the house, a woman suddenly strode up and asked where he was. I said he was sitting for David Hockney and it was up to her as to whether she should interrupt or not. The intruder was Lady Mary Dunn, I learned later, and David gave a wonderful account of Cecil glimpsing her through the window and screaming, ‘It’s that fucking woman!’, then jumping up and opening the door with ‘Mary, darling, how wonderful to see you!’




On one day we went to a lunch party for about thirty at Michael Pitt-Rivers’s house at Tollard Royal. There stood A.J. Ayer and Dee Wells. ‘Notice how I cut her dead,’ murmured Cecil. [He hated her.] We were also driven as near as he could get us to his first Wiltshire house, Ashcombe, virtually over a ploughed field. We got out and stared down a slope but we could see little. What one did learn was that this was the house he really loved. There was the obligatory expedition to Crichel for drinks with the Martens. Cecil knew we formed a somewhat striking quartet. David was into wearing socks of two different colours. ‘I think we were strong medicine for them’, Cecil drawled with satisfaction as we left.


13–15 JUNE


Kelvedon and the Channons


I’d been asked by Paul and Ingrid Channon to Kelvedon for the weekend and travelled down with the Dufferins by train, stupidly making them get out at the wrong station and finding ourselves hurtling miles by taxi across country. The house is red-brick Georgian done over in the best style by David Hicks but full of the kind of things ‘Chips’ Channon would have purchased in the Thirties, like the flamboyant gilded German rococo saints that flanked the entrance in the hall, evoking the Sitwells’ rediscovery of that style. The house was apparently converted back from being a convent for a time and now the bedrooms have different names like Empire, Victorian and Austrian. The weekend was grande luxe as bags were unpacked, bathwater run, clothes laid out and, luxury of luxuries, everyone, including the men, was brought breakfast in bed with all the Sunday newspapers. The Victorian room came my way, hung with a Dutch East India Company pattern and a white



half-tester bed and curtains and a view out to the lake at the front.


This was an idyllic country-house weekend with clear blue skies, the temperature in the upper seventies, and while I painted others swam, played tennis or bridge and we lunched alfresco. Ingrid is a born hostess, with great attention to detail, breaking through what could have been a frosty and formal set-up with refreshing gaiety. The Channons are new friends I’d met through the Dufferins. Everyone else staying was new to me: Mark and Arabella Boxer, he immensely clever with an early Fifties look about him, but the real event was Anne Fleming. This is a stunning, chic, caustic and witty woman who doesn’t suffer fools gladly. The twin attributes of power and the desire to dominate run in her veins.


14 JUNE


Another Judy Gendel fête





It began with dinner à quatre with Sheridan and Lindy Dufferin and Nicholas Georgiadis; then on to 84 Maida Vale with Julian Jebb, Max Rayne, Lord Goodman, Derek Hart, Mark and Arabella Boxer, Diana Cooper, Patrick Procktor, Stephen Spender, Anne Fleming, Fred Warner, Lord Harlech . . .


20 JUNE


Final sitting for Guy Roddon


My final sitting for Guy Roddon was exciting as he’d painted a portrait from Godfrey Argent’s photograph of me, which was marvellous, but I had to sit first for the three-quarter length, which he



finished. Then he spent an hour on the new one, which I bought. I then persuaded him to liven up the background in the three-quarter length with the lilac of the shirt.





I still have that portrait, which for years was slightly banished in the house. But looking at it now, where it has taken a place in my Writing Room, for me it has regained a status, catching me as it does at a certain period of my life.


21–22 JUNE


The Bath Festival


This, I must say, was complicated. It went back to overtures being made to me by someone I have now come to regard as battleaxe number one, Barbara Robertson of the jam factory. I had been asked by, and stayed with, the Strathconas at 20 Lansdowne Crescent with the idea of helping the poor old Bath Festival. After Yehudi Menuhin had been replaced, the whole affair seems to have sunk into a frightful footling mess. It was now run, rather unsatisfactorily one thought, by a triumvirate with Jack Phipps as the impresario– administrator together with Michael Tippett, the composer, and Colin Davis, the conductor, as honorary unpaid artistic directors. Not one of them agreed with the other. Phipps is frankly genial but uninspired, Colin Davis moves with the mood of the moment and this particular moment was focused on youth and its response to music, while Michael Tippett seemed just all over the place. Tippett, who had his friend Karl, a painter, with him, I took to hugely. He’s a funny, nice, profound man in his way, given to girlish whoops and giggles when he suddenly slaps his thigh and curls up in a heap on the sofa. The weekend was spent trekking from concert to concert



and from lunch to dinner, with endless soul-searching. There was just too much music, too much snobbery and too little sense of overall direction. It left me extremely tired and depressed.


24 JUNE


Lunch at Victoria Square


This is the first time I’d been asked to lunch by the formidable Mrs Fleming. The house is on the corner of Victoria Square, one of those innocuous stucco jobs but with a pepperpot tower. It is very pretty inside, with a little library/drawing room on the first floor lined with Gothic bookcases in bamboo, with Gothic wallpaper hung with a collection of Victorian silhouettes in brass. Large brass arms of the same era hold back the curtains. We lunched off fish, chicken salad and crème caramel and strawberries served by the hired butler. There was the usual gathering of the clans: David and Evangeline Bruce, Stephen and Natasha Spender, Diana Phipps and Patrick Procktor, who swept in and, on seeing Natasha Spender in a startling outfit patterned with really awful bright red squares, rushed up and said, ‘How perfectly lovely!’


That evening I was asked to the Lord Mayor’s Midsummer Banquet, which I thought was a great compliment to the NPG. I was flanked by two people of unutterable dreariness and the whole event was marred by J.B. Priestley getting up and giving a speech about the iniquities of taxation in respect of authors, his own income tax in particular, and quite wrong for the occasion.




3 JULY


The British Museum celebrates the reinstallation of its classical collections


The great and costly soirée at the British Museum seemed at a shot to be for something like three to four hundred guests. It was beautifully done in what I would categorise as 1950s Metropolitan Museum of Art style. The dinner was served in the Duveen Gallery with its fabulous Elgin Marbles, with clusters of round tables surrounding a large one at the centre. The Queen had been meant to come but couldn’t as she had a cold, so that must have been a blow. Philip came on his own. The dinner was somewhat surprisingly served by girls in ochre-coloured classical mini-dresses, wildly way-out for the BM. Whatever next? As there were no speeches and no press was present I couldn’t see the point of the evening, a view shared by the farouche and fascinating writer Dame Rebecca West, who kept on asking me, ‘What is it all about?’





Annigoni paints the Queen





The Trustees’ desire for a portrait of the Queen and her preference for Pietro Annigoni expressed at the Buckingham Palace lunch I went to in 1967 came to fruition. The donor was the Gallery’s most loyal supporter, Hugh Leggatt. Annigoni gives a long account of his sittings in his Diario and there is another in the catalogue of the Annigoni exhibition at the National Museum of Wales in 1977. The portrait was to be unveiled the following February but the sittings ran throughout 1969: I have put the four relevant entries together, before returning to chronology.




25 FEBRUARY





Annigoni has started painting his portrait of the Queen. I gather that the first sitting is over. Annigoni is very pleased. The costume is under discussion and so far he’s been offered a cloak but somehow I feel we need a revamped image of her à la chasse as a countrywoman. But it’s under way and very exciting.
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